
Board Packet 
 

 
II. Approval of Minutes from the Committee on Investment and Land Management  

A. January 22, 2025* 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

ILM COMMITTEE MEETING Page 1  of 10 Minutes for 01/22/2025 

DRAFT 
For Approval on 02/19/2025 

STATE OF HAWAI‘I 
OFFICE OF HAWAIIAN AFFAIRS 

560 N. NIMITZ HIGHWAY, SUITE 200 
(VIRTUAL MEETING - VIA ZOOM WEBINAR) 

 

COMMITTEE ON INVESTMENT AND LAND MANAGEMENT 
MINUTES 

  

January 22, 2025   2:00 p.m. 
 

ATTENDANCE: 
Chairperson J. Keoni Souza  
Vice-Chairperson John Waihe‘e, IV 
Trustee Dan Ahuna(On Zoom) 
Trustee Kaleihikina Akaka 
Trustee Keli‘i Akina 
Trustee Luana Alapa 
Trustee Brickwood Galuteria(On Zoom) 
Board Chair Kaialii Kahele 
Trustee C. Hulu Lindsey 
 
EXCUSED: 
None 
 
BOT STAFF: 
Anuhea Diamond 
Crayn Akina 
Carina Lee 
Kanani Iaea 
Kaui Wailehua 
Lei-Ann Durant 
Mark Watanabe 
Mele Moniz 
Melissa Wennihan 
Morgan Kaui Robello 
Nathan Takeuchi 

Pohai Ryan 
Remy Keliihoomalu 
Richelle Kim 
Sommer Soares 
 
ADMINISTRATION STAFF: 
Stacy Ferreira, CEO / Ka Pouhana / Administrator 
Kēhaulani Puʻu, COO / Ka Pou Nui 
Everett Ohta, Interim General Counsel 
Hailama Farden, Sr. Director of HAWAIIAN Cultural Affairs 
Ramona Hinck, Chief Financial Officer 
Ryan Lee, Endowment Director 
Kū’ike Kamakea-ʻOhelo, Dir. Oiwi Well-Being and Aina Momona 
Poni Askew, Dir. Economic & Business Resilience 
Kuʻuleianuhea Awo-Chun, Dir. Education & Culture Based Learning 
Lori Walker, Interim Land Director 
Bill Brennan, Director of Communications 
Lise Vaugh-Sekona, Dir Community Engagement 
Parker Spencer, Strategy Consultant 
Kevin Chak, IT 
Kelcie Wade,Solution Delivery Tech 
Micah Kuhiwa, Intern 
Sandra Stancil, Sr Exec Assistant 
 
GUESTS: 
Naiwi Wurdeman, Board Counsel 
Vijoy Chattergy, Consequent Capital Management 
Marlene Livesay, President of Hui Hawaii O Tensei HCC 

 
See attached Links to YouTube videos: 
Part 1: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=gBMuf6IsIAA&t=2s 
Part 2: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Xfg1oMmwUGc 
 
   I.  CALL TO ORDER 
 

Chair Souza calls the Committee on Investment and Land Management meeting for Wednesday, January 22, 
2025 to order at 2:03 p.m. 
 
Chair Souza roll call - 8 Trustees present constituting a quorum. Trustee Galuteria arrived at 2:08pm 
 

II.   Approval of Minutes from the Committee on Investment and Land Management  
A. January 8, 2025* 

 
Chair Souza Reads the standard language for testifiers, no testifiers. 
 

There is no discussion. 
 

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=gBMuf6IsIAA&t=2s
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Xfg1oMmwUGc


 

ILM COMMITTEE MEETING Page 2  of 10 Minutes for 01/22/2025 

DRAFT 
For Approval on 02/19/2025 

 Chair Souza calls for a ROLL CALL VOTE.  
 
 

MOTION      2:06 p.m. 

TRUSTEE 1 2 ′AE (YES) A′OLE 
(NO) 

KANALUA 
(ABSTAIN) EXCUSED 

DAN  AHUNA   X    
KALEIHIKINA  AKAKA   X    

KELI‘I AKINA   X    
 LUANA ALAPA  2 X    

BRICKWOOD GALUTERIA      Arrived at 2:08pm 
KAIALII KAHELE   X    

CARMEN HULU LINDSEY   X    
VICE-CHAIR JOHN WAIHE‘E 1  X    

CHAIR J. KEONI SOUZA   X    
TOTAL VOTE COUNT   8 0 0 0 

 
VOTE:  [    ] UNANIMOUS   [ X   ] PASSED   [    ] DEFERRED    [    ] FAILED 

 
Chair Souza notes for the record that all members present vote ′AE (YES) and the minutes are 
approved.  
 
 
  III. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
 

None 
 
 
  IV. NEW BUSINESS 
 

A. Action Item ILM #25-01: Approval of the Updated 2024 Guidelines for the Native Hawaiian 
Trust Fund (NHTF) Private Markets Commitment Plan* 

 
Chair Souza recognizes Ryan Lee, Endowment Director 
 
Director Lee summarized: The BOT approved the 2024 Private Markets Plan in September with a budget of 
$45–$60 million. The plan adopts a discretionary framework allowing commitments of $5–$20 million across 4–
8 firms or funds within the 2024 vintage. 
Proposed Changes: Increase allocation to secondary strategies from 30% to 60%. Reduce exposures to credit 
and real assets. These changes address challenges in deploying capital late in 2024 as many top-tier funds 
have closed fundraising efforts. 
Rationale: Adjustments will capitalize on current market opportunities and enable faster capital deployment. 
Secondary and co-investment strategies are emphasized for diversification and accelerated portfolio ramp-up. 
Progress: Due diligence has been performed on several managers. $50 million has been committed to one 
secondary fund. 
Next Steps: Once the 2024 budget is fully committed, administration will return to the BOT to seek approval for 
the 2025 Private Markets Budget and Plan. A full update on 2024 activities will be provided. 
 
Discussion on 11% to 60% in Secondary Markets, who are the managers, and under allocation. 
 
Director Lee summarized: – Selection of manager is made per guidelines, performance. Only one is a new 
manager. Explains under allocation for Private Market strategy – under 7%, at 12%, target 19% by using 
secondary markets can increase the strategy to target. 



 

ILM COMMITTEE MEETING Page 3  of 10 Minutes for 01/22/2025 

DRAFT 
For Approval on 02/19/2025 

  
Chair Souza no further discussion. 
 
Motion: ILM #25-01: Approval of the Updated 2024 Guidelines for the Native Hawaiian Trust Fund (NHTF) 
Private Markets Commitment Plan. Made by Trustee Akina, Seconded by Trustee Waihe‘e. 
 
Chair Souza calls for a ROLL CALL VOTE.  
 

MOTION      2:13pm 

TRUSTEE 1 2 ′AE (YES) A′OLE 
(NO) 

KANALUA 
(ABSTAIN) EXCUSED 

DAN  AHUNA    X   
KALEIHIKINA  AKAKA   X    

KELI‘I AKINA 1  X    
 LUANA ALAPA   X    

BRICKWOOD GALUTERIA   X    
KAIALII KAHELE   X    

CARMEN HULU LINDSEY   X    
VICE-CHAIR JOHN WAIHE‘E  2 X    

CHAIR J. KEONI SOUZA   X    
TOTAL VOTE COUNT   8 1 0 0 

 
VOTE:  [    ] UNANIMOUS   [ X   ] PASSED   [    ] DEFERRED    [    ] FAILED 

 
Motion passes 8 yes votes. 1 no vote Trustee Ahuna. 
 
  IV. NEW BUSINESS 
 

B. Action Item ILM 25-02: Approve the completion of due diligence and to coordinate the 
land transfer of Maunaʻala, Nuʻuanu, Oʻahu to the Office of Hawaiian Affairs* 

 
Chair Souza: Admin presented on this January 8, 2025. Received 2 resolutions in support from Hale o Na Aliʻi 
and the Association of Hawaiian Civic Clubs. Two written testimony one support from Kimeona Kane, one oppose 
by Mamakakaua Daughters and Sons of Hawaiian Warriors.  
 
Chair Souza reads testifiers language and recognizes testifiers: Starting at 2:15pm 
 
Coline Aiu-Oppose- transferring cultural and ceremonial rights to a state agency, emphasized the importance 
of legacy, private cultural practices, and the need for community involvement in decision-making.  
Pua’keala Mann- Oppose- concerns about proper stewardship, transparency, and cultural preservation. 
James Maioho-Comment. Mauna ‘Ala has been maintained by his family lineage (Beckley and Taylor families) 
since 1893. Opposes DNLR’s management and questions OHA’s role since existing cultural protocols and family 
stewardship have been in place for over a century. 
Germaine Meyers-Comment. Opposes verbiage CEO to proceed with land transfer, and has concerns about 
financial due diligence, procedural integrity, and fiduciary responsibility in OHA’s decision-making. 
Anthony Makana Paris- Association of Hawaiian Civic Clubs Support and passed resolution. Recommends an 
advisory council of the Ali’I trusts, Royal Societies, Association of Hawaiian Civic Clubs, and lineal descendants 
to guide  OHA’s stewardship of Mauna’ala. 
Tara Rojas-Support with comments, land transfer must be done with intent to preserve cultural Kanaka maoli 
sites, concerns that rightful kahu should be reinstated, no commercialization. OHA be pono. 
Leona Kalima-wrong location testifying on.  
Direct descendant of House of Kekuanaoa- strongly opposes the transfer of Mauna ‘Ala to OHA, arguing that 
OHA does not have the rightful authority to speak for royal bloodlines  
Brandon Maka’awa’awa-Support. Mauna’ala should not be a park or commercialized. 



 

ILM COMMITTEE MEETING Page 4  of 10 Minutes for 01/22/2025 

DRAFT 
For Approval on 02/19/2025 

 Sherry Cummins-Comment. Agrees with the Maioho ‘ohana’s kuleana to manage Mauna’ala, orge OHA to 
facilitate proper stewardship. Be pono. 
Bumpy Kanahele–Support. Mauna’ala is the only sovereign spot in Hawaii, deep significance. Supports the 
transfer as long as it’s done with careful consideration and respect. 
Shar Kahumoku- 3:22pm Comment advocates for lineal descendants to have a say in decisions regarding 
Mauna ‘Ala, willingness to volunteer for its care and urging that their voices be prioritized before any decisions 
are made.  
See YouTube Video for full testimony https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=rfrdIH29yIU&t=37s 
 
Chair Souza recognizes Pouhana Ferreira summarized: 3:11pm clarifies – the action for CEO to proceed 
with Transfer is not the verbiage. Due diligence phase 2. Mauna’ala discussion. 
 
Trustee Ahuna – Proposes that OHA can help facilitate processes, solutions, diligence that is due. Keep 
community informed, include kupuna. Voting no because we need to do more diligence with our community. 
 
Director Walker summarized: 3:14 pm Phases of due diligence 
 
Phase 1: Initial high-level assessment to ensure mission alignment regarding property acquisition from the State 
of Hawaii. 
Phase 2: A deeper, rigorous due diligence process to assess the responsibilities (kuleana) of acquisition. This 
includes: 

• Property boundary survey. 
• Environmental and property condition reports. 
• Zoning, land use, and title reports. 
• Cultural, historical, and natural resource assessments. 
• Review of agreements, contracts, litigation, and financial considerations. 
• Development of a co-stewardship model with communities, lineal descendants, and stakeholders. 

Phase 2 Goal: Gather comprehensive information to inform recommendations for the Board and ensure 
community collaboration. 
 
Phase 3: Recommendations from Phase 2 will guide further actions, dependent on the state’s transfer process 
(e.g., executive order or title transfer). 
Phase 4: Finalize and close the land transfer process based on agreements with the State of Hawaii. 
 
Current Action Item: Approval to initiate Phase 2 to gather necessary data and collaborate with communities. 
Findings and recommendations from Phase 2 will be presented transparently to the Board and public. 
 
Chair Souza recognizes BOT Chair Kahele summarized: The process is also influenced by legislative actions, 
such as Senate Bill 4, which may affect the timeline and terms of the transfer.  
 
Trustee Ahuna- concerned with the proposed action is for the completion. 
 
Motion by Trustee Waihee: 3:24pm Approval to undertake due diligence phase 2 activities for a proposed land 
transfer of Mauna’ala, Nuuanu, Oahu to the Office of Hawaiian Affairs. 
 
Alapa- second. 
 
Chair Kahele motions to revise the language to include the additional verbiage listed on the action item. 
3:25pm  
3:29pm Brief recess to confirm language. Return at 3:43pm 
 
Motion by Chair Kahele - 3:43pm 1. Approval to undertake due diligence phase 2 activities for a proposed 
land transfer of Mauna’ala, Nuuanu, Oahu to the Office of Hawaiian Affairs. 



 

ILM COMMITTEE MEETING Page 5  of 10 Minutes for 01/22/2025 

DRAFT 
For Approval on 02/19/2025 

  
2. Execute and or procure all necessary agreements, instruments, applications and other appropriate 
documents necessary for phase two due diligence to inform the proposed land transfer of Mauna’ala 
Nuuanu, Oahu from the DLR to OHA.  
 
Second by Trustee Lindsey. 
 
Chair Souza calls for a ROLL CALL VOTE.  

MOTION      3:46pm 

TRUSTEE 1 2 ′AE (YES) A′OLE 
(NO) 

KANALUA 
(ABSTAIN) EXCUSED 

DAN  AHUNA     X  
KALEIHIKINA  AKAKA   X    

KELI‘I AKINA   X    
 LUANA ALAPA   X    

BRICKWOOD GALUTERIA   X    
KAIALII KAHELE 1  X    

CARMEN HULU LINDSEY  2 X    
VICE-CHAIR JOHN WAIHE‘E   X    

CHAIR J. KEONI SOUZA   X    
TOTAL VOTE COUNT   8 0 1 0 

 
VOTE:  [    ] UNANIMOUS   [ X   ] PASSED   [    ] DEFERRED    [    ] FAILED 

 
Motion passes 8 yes, 1 abstain Trustee Ahuna. 
 
Chair Souza recognizes Trustee Akaka. 
 
Trustee Akaka requests for a workshop going forward to engage with community. 
 
Chair Souza confirms there will be regular updates throughout the process. 
 
 
  IV. NEW BUSINESS 
 

C. Action Item ILM #25-03: Approval to undertake Due Diligence Phase 2 activities for a 
proposed land transfer of Kāneiʻolouma Heiau Complex, Kōloa, Kauaʻi to the Office of 
Hawaiian Affairs* 

 
Chair Souza recognizes testifiers: 3:50pm 
Germaine Meyers-Comment- financials, risks, and future projections are needed, and urge for these details to 
be provided to understand the long-term financial implications of the land transfer 
Mason Chock – Support. Has been stewarding for 20 years, Phase 2 is needed to bring clarity to the details 
and advance the next steps 
Peleke Flores- Support the due diligence for phase 2 with Uncle Rupert Rowe and over the past 20 years 
Direct descendant of House of Kekuanaoa - oppose.  
Rupert Rowe- Support. Kāneiʻolouma recovered ‘iwi in the caves, and discussed the value of recognition of your 
cultural identity, the distinction between being Hawaiian and Kanaka, and the role of traditional knowledge in 
preserving their past and future. 
Direct descendant of House of Kekuanaoa- strongly oppose, concerns over development and sacredness of 
the land to her genealogy.  
See YouTube Video for full testimony https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Xfg1oMmwUGc&t=17s 
 



 

ILM COMMITTEE MEETING Page 6  of 10 Minutes for 01/22/2025 

DRAFT 
For Approval on 02/19/2025 

 Chair Souza recognizes Trustee Ahuna summarized: 4:09pm Good job with due diligence, thank you. Uncle 
Rupert’s Hui is happy with OHA’s efforts. They support OHA’s land transfer. Mahalo Uncle Rupert. Commends 
the staff for collaboration, Sherry Broder, and my staff. 
 
Chair Souza recognizes BOT Chair Kahele. Motion: Approval to undertake Due Diligence Phase 2 
activities for a proposed land transfer of Kāneiʻolouma Heiau Complex, Kōloa, Kauaʻi to the Office of 
Hawaiian Affairs, Remove item 3. 
 
Approve and authorize the CEO to delegate to OHA administration the authority to: 

1) Undertake Due Diligence Phase 2 activities for a proposed land transfer of Kanei'olouma 
Heiau Complex, Koloa, Kaua'i to the Office of Hawaiian Affairs; 

 
2) Execute and/or procure all necessary agreements, instruments, applications, and other 

appropriate documents necessary for phase two due diligence to inform the potential transfer 
of land from the County of Kaua'i to OHA; 

 
3) Increase the budget for the Land Assets Program (Program Code 8300) up to $50,000 to cover 

necessary costs incurred for, or associated with the due diligence phase, subject to the approval of 
Action Item BF #25-01: OHA Biennium Budget for the Fiscal Biennium Periods 2023-2024 
(FY24) and 2024-2025 (FY25) - Realignment #3 -Approval of Core and Non-Core Realignments; 

 
4) Take all other reasonable actions necessary and appropriate to implement the foregoing. 

 
Second by Trustee Alapa. 
 
 
Discussion. Chair recognizes Trustee Akaka- Mahalo Trustee Ahuna and team for the site visit and for the 
community’s support. 
 
Chair Souza calls for a ROLL CALL VOTE.  
 
 

MOTION      4:16pm 

TRUSTEE 1 2 ′AE (YES) A′OLE 
(NO) 

KANALUA 
(ABSTAIN) EXCUSED 

DAN  AHUNA   X    
KALEIHIKINA  AKAKA   X    

KELI‘I AKINA   X    
 LUANA ALAPA  2 X    

BRICKWOOD GALUTERIA   X    
KAIALII KAHELE 1  X    

CARMEN HULU LINDSEY   X    
VICE-CHAIR JOHN WAIHE‘E   X    

CHAIR J. KEONI SOUZA   X    
TOTAL VOTE COUNT   9 0 0 0 

 
VOTE:  [  X  ] UNANIMOUS   [   ] PASSED   [    ] DEFERRED    [    ] FAILED   

 
Motion passes unanimous. 
 
 
 
 



 

ILM COMMITTEE MEETING Page 7  of 10 Minutes for 01/22/2025 

DRAFT 
For Approval on 02/19/2025 

   IV. NEW BUSINESS 
 

D. Action Item ILM #25-04:  Approval to undertake Due Diligence Phase 2 activities for a 
proposed land transfer of the Ahupuaʻa ʻO Kahana parcels, Kahana, Oʻahu to the Office 
of Hawaiian Affairs 

 
Chair Souza recognizes testifiers – Start 4:17pm 
Germaine Meyers-Comment, liability from land transfer, generational trauma, consult with community take 
financial into consideration 
Ululani Beirne- Support with comments. Already had 5 meetings, we want another entity not DLNR, need lease 
renewals 
Ben Shafer-Support. Return land to Hawaiians 
Direct descendant of House of Kekuanaoa - oppose. Lineal descendants and sacredness 
Shar Kahumoku- Oppose. Take into consideration lineal descendants, caretakers 
See YouTube Video for full testimony https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Xfg1oMmwUGc&t=17s 
 
Chair Souza recognizes BOT Chair Kahele – 4:40pm Motion approval to undertake due diligence Phase 
2 activities for a proposed land transfer of the Ahupuaʻa ʻO Kahana parcels, Kahana, Oʻahu to the 
Office of Hawaiian Affairs, Remove item 3 
 
Approve and authorize the CEO to delegate to Office of Hawaiian Affairs (OHA) administration the authority to: 

1) Undertake Due Diligence Phase 2 activities for a proposed land transfer of the Ahupua'a 'O 
Kahana parcels, Kahana, O'ahu to the Office of Hawaiian Affairs; 

 
2) Execute and/or procure all necessary agreements, instruments, applications, and other appropriate 

documents necessary for due diligence to inform the potential transfer of the aforementioned 
parcels from the DLNR to OHA; 

 
3) Increase the budget for the Land Assets Program (Program Code 8300) up to $75,000 to cover 

necessary costs incurred for, or associated with the due diligence phase, subject to the approval of 
Action Item BF #25-01: OHA Biennium Budget for the Fiscal Biennium Periods 2023-2024 (FY24) 
and 2024-2025 (FY25) - Realignment #3 -Approval of Core and Non-Core Realignments; 

 
4) Take all other reasonable actions necessary and appropriate to implement the foregoing. 

 
Second by Trustee Alapa. No further discussion. 
 
 
Chair Souza calls for a ROLL CALL VOTE.  
 

MOTION      4:38pm 

TRUSTEE 1 2 ′AE (YES) A′OLE 
(NO) 

KANALUA 
(ABSTAIN) EXCUSED 

DAN  AHUNA      Left mtg at 4:26pm 
KALEIHIKINA  AKAKA   X    

KELI‘I AKINA   X    
 LUANA ALAPA  2 X    

BRICKWOOD GALUTERIA   X    
KAIALII KAHELE 1  X    

CARMEN HULU LINDSEY   X    
VICE-CHAIR JOHN WAIHE‘E   X    

CHAIR J. KEONI SOUZA   X    



 

ILM COMMITTEE MEETING Page 8  of 10 Minutes for 01/22/2025 

DRAFT 
For Approval on 02/19/2025 

 TOTAL VOTE COUNT   8 0 0 0 
 

VOTE:  [    ] UNANIMOUS   [  X ] PASSED   [    ] DEFERRED    [    ] FAILED 
 
Motion passes 8 yes.  
 
  IV. NEW BUSINESS 
 

E. Action Item ILM #25-05:  Approval to undertake Due Diligence Phase 2 activities for a 
proposed land transfer of the Nation of Hawaiʻi parcels, Waimanālo, Oʻahu to the Office 
of Hawaiian Affairs. 

 
Chair Souza Received two written testimony, one support by Kimeona Kane, one oppose by HUI EA O KU.  
 
Chair Souza recognizes testifiers. Start 4:42pm  
Bumpy Kanahele-Support with handout of testimony. Fully support the due diligence phase 2 
Germaine Meyers-Comment. Missing financials 
Brandon Makaʻawaʻawa-Support with comment. OHA has kuleana to our people, asserting sovereignty, 
communal tenure 
Keoni DeFranco-Full support, Nation of Hawaii the model for self determination, events and economic 
development activities  
See YouTube Video for full testimony https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Xfg1oMmwUGc&t=17s 
 
Chair Souza recognizes Chair Kahele 4:59pm MOTION: Approval to undertake Due Diligence Phase 2 
activities for a proposed land transfer of the Nation of Hawaiʻi parcels, Waimanālo, Oʻahu to the Office 
of Hawaiian Affairs, Remove item 3 
  
Approve and authorize the CEO to delegate to OHA administration the authority to: 

 
1) Undertake Due Diligence Phase 2 activities for a proposed land transfer of the Nation of Hawai'i parcels, 

Waimanalo, O'ahu to the Office of Hawaiian Affairs; 

 
2) Execute and/or procure all necessary agreements, instruments, applications, and other appropriate documents 

necessary for due diligence to inform the potential transfer of land from the HDOA to OHA; 
 

3) Increase the budget for the Land Assets Program (Program Code 8300) up to $75,000 to cover necessary costs 
incurred for, or associated with the due diligence phase, subject to the approval of Action Item BF #25-01: OHA 
Biennium Budget for the Fiscal Biennium Periods 2023-2024 (FY24) and 2024-2025 (FY25) - Realignment #3 
-Approval of Core and Non-Core Realignments; 

 
4) Take all other reasonable actions necessary and appropriate to implement the foregoing. 

 
Second Trustee Alapa. Discussion.  
 
Trustee Akaka what’s the timeframe? Will there be funding for the due diligence? Why these parcels? 
 
Pouhana Ferreira- State is committed to assisting in due diligence. But no funding will be provided for due 
diligence by the State. DOA Chair Heard supports whatever is needed. The parcels are the ones in top priority 
due to the residents needing permanence from eviction. No successorship.  
 
Director Walker- need 3rd party est. 6-12months for due diligence phase 2 – can’t give answer on set timeline 



 

ILM COMMITTEE MEETING Page 9  of 10 Minutes for 01/22/2025 

DRAFT 
For Approval on 02/19/2025 

  
Trustee Lindsey- no leases but need home repairs badly. 
 
Chair Souza calls for a ROLL CALL VOTE.  
 

 
MOTION      5:05pm 

TRUSTEE 1 2 ′AE (YES) A′OLE 
(NO) 

KANALUA 
(ABSTAIN) EXCUSED 

DAN  AHUNA      Left mtg at 4:26pm 
KALEIHIKINA  AKAKA   X    

KELI‘I AKINA   X    
 LUANA ALAPA  2 X    

BRICKWOOD GALUTERIA   X    
KAIALII KAHELE 1  X    

CARMEN HULU LINDSEY   X    
VICE-CHAIR JOHN WAIHE‘E   X    

CHAIR J. KEONI SOUZA   X    
TOTAL VOTE COUNT   8 0 0 0 

 
VOTE:  [    ] UNANIMOUS   [  X ] PASSED   [    ] DEFERRED    [    ] FAILED 

 
Motion passes 8 yes. 
 
 V. ADJOURNMENT 
 
Trustee Alapa moves to adjourn the ILM meeting.  
 
Trustee Akaka seconds the motion. 
 

There is zero discussion. 
 
Chair Souza calls for a ROLL CALL VOTE.  
 
      5:09pm 

TRUSTEE 1 2 ′AE (YES) A′OLE 
(NO) 

KANALUA 
(ABSTAIN) EXCUSED 

DAN  AHUNA      Left mtg at 4:26pm 
KALEIHIKINA  AKAKA 2  X    

KELI‘I AKINA   X    
 LUANA ALAPA  1 X    

BRICKWOOD GALUTERIA   X    
KAIALII KAHELE   X    

CARMEN HULU LINDSEY   X    
VICE-CHAIR JOHN WAIHE‘E   X    

CHAIR J. KEONI SOUZA   X    
TOTAL VOTE COUNT   8 0 0  

 
VOTE:  [    ] UNANIMOUS   [  X  ] PASSED   [    ] DEFERRED    [    ] FAILED   

 
Chair Souza adjourns the ILM meeting at 5:10p.m. 
 
 
 
 



 

ILM COMMITTEE MEETING Page 10  of 10 Minutes for 01/22/2025 

DRAFT 
For Approval on 02/19/2025 

  
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
 
____________________________ 
Richelle Kim 
Trustee Aide 
Committee on Investment and Land Management 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
As approved by the Committee on Investment and Land Management (ILM) on February 19, 2025 
 
 
 
 
____________________________ 
Trustee J Keoni Souza 
Chair 
Committee on Investment and Land Management 



Board Packet 
 

II.  Approval of Minutes from the Committee on Investment and Land Management  
B.  February 5, 2025* 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



 

ILM COMMITTEE MEETING Page 1  of 6 Minutes for 02/05/2025 

DRAFT 
For Approval on 02/19/2025 

STATE OF HAWAI‘I 
OFFICE OF HAWAIIAN AFFAIRS 

560 N. NIMITZ HIGHWAY, SUITE 200 
(VIRTUAL MEETING - VIA ZOOM WEBINAR) 

 

COMMITTEE ON INVESTMENT AND LAND MANAGEMENT 
MINUTES 

  

February 5, 2025   2:00 p.m. 
 

ATTENDANCE: 
Chairperson J. Keoni Souza  
Vice-Chairperson John Waihe‘e, IV 
Trustee Dan Ahuna(On Zoom) 
Trustee Kaleihikina Akaka 
Trustee Keli‘i Akina 
Trustee Luana Alapa 
Trustee Brickwood Galuteria(On Zoom) 
Board Chair Kaialii Kahele 
Trustee C. Hulu Lindsey 
 
EXCUSED: 
None 
 
BOT STAFF: 
Anuhea Diamond 
Kanani Iaea 
Kaui Wailehua 
Mark Watanabe 
Mele Moniz 
Morgan Kaui Robello 
Nathan Takeuchi 

Remy Keliihoomalu 
Richelle Kim 
Sommer Soares 
 
ADMINISTRATION STAFF: 
Kēhaulani Puʻu, COO / Ka Pou Nui 
Everett Ohta, Interim General Counsel 
Hailama Farden, Sr. Director of HAWAIIAN Cultural Affairs 
Elena Farden, Sen Dir of Strat and Implementation 
Ramona Hinck, Chief Financial Officer 
Ryan Lee, Endowment Director 
Kū’ike Kamakea-ʻOhelo, Dir. Oiwi Well-Being and Aina Momona 
Lori Walker, Interim Land Director 
Bill Brennan, Director of Communications 
Lise Vaugh-Sekona, Dir Community Engagement 
Parker Spencer, Strategy Consultant 
Kevin Chak, IT 
Kelcie Wade,Solution Delivery Tech 
Micah Kuhiwa, Intern 
Sandra Stancil, Sr Exec Assistant 
 
GUESTS: 
Naiwi Wurdeman, Board Counsel 
Vijoy Chattergy, Consequent Capital Management 

 
 
See attached Link to YouTube video: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=-8IZCcekxY0 
 
 
   I.  CALL TO ORDER 
 

Chair Souza calls the Committee on Investment and Land Management meeting for Wednesday, February 5, 
2025 to order at 2:03 p.m. 
 
Chair Souza roll call 2:04pm - 9 Trustees present constituting a quorum.  
 
COO Kēhaulani Puʻu introduces administration present. 
 
 

II.   Approval of Minutes from the Committee on Investment and Land Management  
A. January 8, 2025* 

 
 
Chair Souza DEFERS this item 
 
 
 

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=-8IZCcekxY0


 

ILM COMMITTEE MEETING Page 2  of 6 Minutes for 02/05/2025 

DRAFT 
For Approval on 02/19/2025 

  
  III. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
 

None 
 

  IV. NEW BUSINESS 
 

A. Native Hawaiian Trust Fund(NHTF) Investment Portfolio Review, for the Quarter Ending 
September 30, 2024* 

 
No testifiers. 
 
Chair Souza recognizes Ryan Lee, Endowment Director 2:07PM 
 
Director Lee summarized: September report was not presented to the BOT due to no board meetings in 
November but was sent to trustees via email. September quarter included strong U.S. economic performance 
and the Federal Reserve’s initiation of a rate-cutting cycle, reducing interest rates by 50 basis points to ease 
inflation and employment concerns. This policy shift led to a broad market rally, benefiting real assets like real 
estate and infrastructure, as well as global equities, particularly emerging markets and non-U.S. equities. 
The trust fund performed well, delivering a 4.5% return for the quarter, with a closing market value of 
approximately $606 million. Over the past year, the trust fund returned 19%, with a long-term 10-year return of 
7.3%. While public market investments contributed positively, private markets lagged due to valuation delays. 
However, this underperformance is expected to correct over time as valuations adjust. 
Chair Souza recognizes BOT Chair Kahele: Does this figure include land assets? 
Director Lee: It does not. 
Chair Souza recognizes Trustee Akina summarized: please clarify whether these returns are a concern, 
given that the consumer price index and policy index had higher returns, and if the returns required attention. 
Director Lee: Our goal is to outperform the benchmark, over the 10 year cycle. It’s a snapshot. OHA 
addressed the IPS and allocations in private market and began putting money towards that. 
 
  IV. NEW BUSINESS 
 

B. Native Hawaiian Trust Fund(NHTF) Investment Portfolio Review, for the Quarter Ending       
December 31, 2024* 

 
No testifiers. 
 
Chair Souza recognizes Ryan Lee, Endowment Director 2:12pm 
 
Director Lee summarized: The U.S. economy remained strong with growth exceeding expectations, while 
Europe and China faced weaker activity and policy uncertainties. Inflation concerns led the Federal Reserve to 
scale back planned interest rate cuts from four to two. Market volatility increased following the U.S. presidential 
election and newly announced tariffs. 
Majority of asset classes gave back previous quarter returns. U.S. equities outperformed, driven by the 
"Magnificent 7" tech stocks, while non-U.S. equities and emerging markets struggled. Rising interest rates 
negatively impacted fixed income assets, natural resources, and real estate, while infrastructure performed better 
due to high power demand. 
For the quarter, the Native Hawaiian Trust Fund had a -1.2% return, closing with a market value of approximately 
$595 million. Despite a strong 10.5% annual return exceeding long-term expectations, the fund continued to 



 

ILM COMMITTEE MEETING Page 3  of 6 Minutes for 02/05/2025 

DRAFT 
For Approval on 02/19/2025 

 underperform its policy benchmark and CPI +5% objective. Over the long term, since inception, the fund has 
outperformed. Over the 10 year period it has generated 7.1% annualized. 
As of December 31, 2024, the fund’s asset allocation remained within compliance. To address 
underperformance, trustees approved a private market commitment budget in the last quarter, allowing for a $15 
million investment into a secondary fund. $4.2 million was called and reinvestment in private markets.The trust 
maintained an overweight position in public equities to offset private equity underweights, aiming to align with 
long-term performance goals. Updated IPS to increase public equities to get to target and benchmark. 
Spending policy review- need to update. Continue to update private markets. 
 
Chair Souza recognizes Chair Kahele: Can you elaborate on the NHTF spending policy, what’s being 
proposed? 
 
Director Lee: add real estate assets into the NHTF, spending should reflect Hawaii real estate spending. Spend 
on top of the market value, ie). Real estate value $100 million, 5% of that should account for spend. But Need 
cash flow to meet the 5%. Proposal to amend the spending policy to net distributed income that can come from 
the properties to reflect future spend. 
 
Chair Souza recognizes Trustee Lindsey: At one time we had a budget for the the Hawaii spending policy $25 
million, Is that still in force? The cap on real estate, and the basis? 
 
Director Lee summarized: The cap was updated at the time of acquisition of the Iwilei properties. Cap reflected 
overall commercial real estate to be separate from NHTF assets, but now the recommendation is to incorporate 
it back in and put a cap on overall exposure in IPS real estate strategy. 
 
Chair Souza recognizes Trustee Galuteria: With new Washington DC administration, what are the 
recommendations? 
 
Director Lee: short term uncertainties, long term strategic asset allocation plan- diversify, annual evaluation. 
 
Chair Souza recognizes Trustee Alapa summarized: what is the $4.2 Million capital call? 
 
Director Lee summarized: In private markets, investment commitments are made with funds typically deployed 
over 2-3 years as opportunities are identified. The trust committed $15 million to a secondary fund, which had 
existing investments. As a result, $4.2 million was called capital and put to work, rather than waiting for the full 
$15 million commitment. We committed $15 million, $4.2 was called and invested.   
 
 
  IV. NEW BUSINESS 
 

C. Informational briefing on the status of OHA Iwilei properties- Nā Lama Kukui (560 N. 
Nimitz Hwy.),Honolulu Harbor Shops (500 N. Nimitz Hwy.), and Iwilei Business Center 
Apts 1, 2, 3A (501 Sumner St.) 

 
No testifiers. 
 
Chair Souza recognizes Interim Land Director, Lori Walker to present. 2:25pm 
 
Director Walker summarized: Nā Lama Kukui maintained strong financial performance revenue $2,946,752 
net income $1,373,849 with an occupancy rate above 95%. FY25 Completed and ongoing projects include an 
awning installation, second-floor AC replacements, and scheduled roof resealing and fire alarm upgrades. Future 
capital projects will be identified in collaboration with property managers. 
 



 

ILM COMMITTEE MEETING Page 4  of 6 Minutes for 02/05/2025 

DRAFT 
For Approval on 02/19/2025 

 Honolulu Harbor Shops FY25 revenue $2,036,984 maintained steady net income $993,170, FY25 projects with 
recent upgrades including a security camera system and live monitoring service. Parking lot repairs were 
performed as needed, and a biweekly sidewalk cleaning service was contracted. A site assessment report is 
planned for FY26. 
 
Iwilei Business Center revenue $246,357, net income loss -$227,754 faced challenges due to short-term 
tenant leases (3-6 months), efforts to enhance marketing strategies and property improvements. FY25 projects 
completed upgrades include a security camera system, and fencing fabric. Scheduled improvements include 
repairs to the apartment 1 entrance and loading dock gate, installation of a demising fence between 1-2. A site 
assessment repair is also planned for FY26. 
 
Chair recognizes Trustee Akaka summarized:  IBC when did we acquire it? Future? 
 
Director Walker: 2021 acquired both HHS and IBC together, possible redevelopment in future.  Focus on 
short term leases. 
 
Chair Souza recognizes General Counsel, Everett Ohta summarized: IBC apt 1,2, 3A were acquired same 
time as HHS as a whole. HHS leases include use of parking lots of IBC to meet offsite parking requirements. 
C&C changed but we are locked into the leases. 
 
Trustee Akaka summarized: How often are site assessments done for NLK? 
 
Director Walker: In 2022 the comprehensive site assessment report was completed, generally every 5-10 
years. 
 
Trustee Akaka: highly recommend tinting, and solar 
 
Chair Souza recognizes Trustee Lindsey summarized: Is Longs still paying? Revenue includes Longs? And 
is Mercedes still in the back with a contract? 
 
Director Walker: Yes they are current with monthly rent and inactive. Yes revenue included Longs. Mercedes 
is not a tenant with us. 
 
Chair Souza recognizes Trustee Alapa summarized: With the negative net income, interested in status of 
considering solar energy to save on electric. Technology evolved for paneling. Spending high on electric need 
to bring costs down. 
 
Director Walker: feasibility studies maybe completed but will look into it. 
 
Chair Souza recognizes Trustee Galuteria summarized: Who owns IHS property? Is there a devaluation 
around those properties? In coming rail- OHA should be involved in conversations about the area. 
 
Director Walker: IHS. No official studies on devaluation. MOVE OAHU FORWARD group network intends to 
work together with all stakeholders in the area and the concerns. 
 
Chair Souza recognizes Trustee Akaka summarized: IHS had no intention of vacating. Value 
considerations. Commercial business and residential. 
 
Chair Souza recognizes Trustee Akina summarized: eager to begin planning and vision for the NLK and 
surrounding areas. Progress is stalled due to balancing short-term and long-term decisions. Need to address 
efficiency improvements, such as solar energy, and solutions for houselessness and safety concerns affecting 
both visitors and staff. What’s the timetable? Today’s update is short term maintenance. Important to develop 
vision for Iwilei. 



 

ILM COMMITTEE MEETING Page 5  of 6 Minutes for 02/05/2025 

DRAFT 
For Approval on 02/19/2025 

  
Chair Souza: No timetable, need Long term plan and infrastructure.  
Trustee Akaka: County has asked what are OHA’s plans for the future. 
 
Trustee Lindsey: Met with C&C, City Mill and neighbors general plan. OHA has been involved. 
 
Director Walker aummarized: Supported by RE consultants with MOVE OAHU FORWARD group. IHS 
owned by State of HI, leased by C&C/HIS. OHA will be at the discussions and reserve density allocations. 
 
Chair Kahele: Mechanisms through the by laws to create ad hoc or PIG committees if needed to further the 
discussions. 
 
Chair Souza summarized: Iwilei land owners keep in contact. 
 
 
 
V. ADJOURNMENT 
 
Trustee Lindsey moves to adjourn the ILM meeting. 4:48pm 
 
Trustee Akaka seconds the motion. 
 

There is zero discussion. 
 
Chair Souza calls for a ROLL CALL VOTE.  
 
      4:48pm 

TRUSTEE 1 2 ′AE (YES) A′OLE 
(NO) 

KANALUA 
(ABSTAIN) EXCUSED 

DAN  AHUNA   X    
KALEIHIKINA  AKAKA   X    

KELI‘I AKINA   X    
 LUANA ALAPA  2 X    

BRICKWOOD GALUTERIA   X    
KAIALII KAHELE   X    

CARMEN HULU LINDSEY 1  X    
VICE-CHAIR JOHN WAIHE‘E   X    

CHAIR J. KEONI SOUZA   X    
TOTAL VOTE COUNT   9 0 0  

 
VOTE:  [ X   ] UNANIMOUS   [    ] PASSED   [    ] DEFERRED    [    ] FAILED   

 
 
 
Chair Souza adjourns the ILM meeting at 4:49 p.m. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

ILM COMMITTEE MEETING Page 6  of 6 Minutes for 02/05/2025 

DRAFT 
For Approval on 02/19/2025 

 Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
 
____________________________ 
Richelle Kim 
Trustee Aide 
Committee on Investment and Land Management 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
As approved by the Committee on Investment and Land Management (ILM) on February 19, 2025 
 
 
 
 
____________________________ 
Trustee J Keoni Souza 
Chair 
Committee on Investment and Land Management 



Board Packet 
 
IV.  New Business  

 
A. Informational briefing by OHA Land department on the following properties: 

1. Pahua Heiau: 7142 Makahuena Pl. Hon HI 96825; TMK: 3-9-056:038* 
2. Waialua Court House: 66-207 Kamehameha Hwy, Haleiwa HI 96712; TMK 

6-6-009:023* 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Informational Briefing on OHA Legacy Landholdings:
Pahua Heiau & Waialua Courthouse

Committee on Investment & Land Management
February 19, 2025



Pahua Heiau
• Site Stewardship

• Monitoring and maintenance, educating 
the surrounding community, 
developing comprehensive management 
plan

• Current Property Activities
• Educational talk stories with community 

members, local organizations, and nearby 
schools.

• Education in traditional dry stack 
methods. 

• Future Projects
• Public Viewing Area - to control unwanted 

human interaction, contracted for, 
• Expand Educational and Programmatic 

Uses: Increase community outreach and 
invite appropriate cultural use.



Waialua Courthouse
• Site Stewardship

• Ola Kamananui - maintains property, 
holds events and space for 
surrounding community members

• Current Property Activities
• Halau hula gatherings, practice
• Community events, meetings -Waialua 

Civic Club membership meetings, 
Queen’s Health listening session, 
Manu o Ke Kai CC event

• Maoli Makers Market
• Library of NH books and other 

resources.

• Future Projects
• Various repairs
• Establishment of paid parking system
• Lei plants and trees project.



Board Packet 
 

IV.  New Business  
B. Informational briefing by Consequent Capital Management (CCM) on the 
following investment topics for education: 

1. Review of the overall Native Hawaiian Trust Fund allocations and the 
Investment Policy Statement approved in November 2024* 

2. 2025 Investment Trends/Opportunities Based on NHTF Allocations* 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Independent Board Consultant for 
the Office of Hawaiian Affairs’ 
Native Hawaiian Trust Fund

Wednesday, February 19, 2025
2:00 p.m. HST



1. Review of  the Overa l l  Nat ive 
Hawai ian Trust  Fund Al locat ions

2.  Review of  Investment  Pol icy  
Statement  Approved in  November  
2024
3. 2025 Investment Trends and 
Opportunit ies Based on NHTF 
Al locat ions
4. List of 2025 Educational Training
5. GLOSSARY TERMS

M E E T I N G
A G E N D A



NHTF Overall Portfolio Structure
Asset Class Risk Strategy Actual Weight Target Weight Market Value (mm $) Difference Actual v Target % Difference Actual v Target $
Public Equity Capital Appreciation 51.79% 42% 308,645$                    9.79% 58,362$                                                   
Private Equity Capital Appreciation 10.23% 19% 60,975$                      -8.77% (52,248)$                                                 
Global Real Assets Capital Appreciation 7.19% 5% 42,841$                                   2.19% 13,045$                                                   
Hedge Funds Diversifying 12.72% 13% 75,825$                                   -0.28% (1,644)$                                                    
Fixed Income Capital Preservaton 14.96% 18% 89,176$                      -3.04% (18,088)$                                                 
Enhanced Liquidity Capital Preservaton 2.54% 3% 15,137$                                   -0.46% (2,740)$                                                    
Cash Capital Preservaton 0.56% 0% 3,313$                                     0.56% 3,313$                                                     

3

As of 12/31/24



NHTF Investment Policy Statement

4

Table of Contents
Section 1. Introduction and Purpose ...................................................................................... 89
Section 2. General Beliefs and Objectives ............................................................................. 91
Section 3. Investment Philosophy and Structure ................................................................. 94
Section 4. Standards of Care ................................................................................................... 96
Section 5. Delegation of Authority .......................................................................................... 97
Section 6. Asset Allocation Guidelines ................................................................................. 101
Section 7. Investment Guidelines .......................................................................................... 104
Section 8. Hawai‘i Direct Investment Policy (HDIP) ........................................................ 107
Section 9. Monitoring of Objectives and Results ............................................................... 109
Section 10. Selecting and Reviewing Investment Managers ............................................ 110
Section 11. Investment Risk Management Policy .............................................................. 116

 Objectives, Roles/Responsibilities, and Beliefs Stated

 Philosophy: Long-term; Diversified; Active; Hawai‘i Direct Investments

 Prudent Person; Prudent Expert; Code of Ethics

 Roles: Board (fiduciary); Staff and Consultants (implementation); Managers (strategy mandates); Custodian
(operations)

 Asset Allocation Guidelines: Targets; Rebalancing; Asset Type Specific; Hawai‘i Direct Investing

 Manager selection, monitoring, termination processes

 Risk Management oversight



2025 Investment Trends/Opportunities Based on 
NHTF Allocations

5

 Capital Appreciation
 U.S. trade policies on growth prospects
 Concentration risk in equity securities and US
 China shock or awww

 Diversifying
 Hedge funds
 Risk mitigation
 Uncorrelated

 Capital Preservation
 US Federal Reserve policy
 International central bank divergent policy
 Inflationary pressures

 Black and Gray Swans
 Fiscal spending/deficits
 Pandemic prospects
 Deepseek and growth models



2025 Education Trustee Opportunities (partial)

6

Goldman Sachs
Goldman Sach Asset Management expects to be in Honolulu three times in 2025, including in April, July, and 
September. There are two planned GSAM institutional conferences for 2025 (dates are TBC).

• May | London | EMEA Investment Forum (GSAM) 
• October | New York | The Alternatives Summit (GSAM)

JP Morgan
The JPM approach to trustee education is more tailored to assist internal staff and consultants’ direction. For
example, in 2024, JPM connected OHA staff with informal group of Sovereign Wealth Funds online. Additionally,
JPM supports other educational opportunities for clients such as the Pacific Pension and Investment Institute
(https://www.ppi.institute/), which includes a lot of west coast pensions and institutions like Alaska
Permanent. The next PPI program is scheduled for March 5-7, 2025, in Seattle, WA.

A partial list of some JPM offering in 2025 is as follows:

• May 13-15, 2025 Boston 53rd Annual J.P. Morgan Global Technology, Media and Communications
Conference

• February 24-26, 2025 Miami Beach Global Leveraged Finance Conference

PIMCO

PIMCO hosts bi-annually educational seminars relevant to the board members called the “PIMCO Institute”
seminars.

2025 PIMCO Institute Dates:

April 7 – 10, 2025

October 20 – 23, 2025

https://www.ppi.institute/


APPENDIX



- A -
Advisor: In the NHTF, an advisor refers to each fiduciary "manager- of-managers" firm hired to exercise investment discretion over a portion 
of the NHTF assets within the parameters set forth in its mandate.

Alpha: The amount of return expected from an investment from its inherent value.

Annualized: A procedure where figures covering a period of less than one year are extended to cover a 12-month period.

Annualized rate of return: The average annual return over a period of years, taking into account the effect of compounding. Annualized rate 
of return also can be called compound growth rate.

Appreciation: The increase in value of a financial asset.

Asset allocation: The process of dividing investments among cash, income and growth buckets to optimize the balance between risk and 
reward based on investment needs; Implementation of an investment strategy that attempts to balance risk versus reward by adjusting the 
percentage of each asset in an investment portfolio according to the investor's risk tolerance, goals and investment time frame. The focus is 
on the characteristics of the overall portfolio.

Asset allocation: Implementation of an investment strategy that attempts to balance risk versus reward by adjusting the percentage of each 
asset in an investment portfolio according to the investor's risk tolerance, goals and investment time frame. The focus is on the 
characteristics of the overall portfolio.

Asset Allocator: An organization or individual that conducts asset allocation of dividing the capital in an investment portfolio among stocks, 
bonds, alternatives, and cash. The goal is to align your asset allocation with your tolerance for risk and time horizon. 

Asset class: Securities with similar features. The most common asset classes are stocks, bonds and cash equivalents.

Asymmetric Distribution: Asymmetrical distribution is a situation in which the values of variables occur at irregular frequencies and the 
mean, median, and mode occur at different points. An asymmetric distribution exhibits skewness. In contrast, a Gaussian or normal 
distribution, when depicted on a graph, is shaped like a bell curve and the two sides of the graph are symmetrical.

INVESTMENT GLOSSARY

Page 8Consequent Capital Management



- B –

Beta: A measure of a stock's volatility in relation to the overall market. By definition, the market, such as the S&P 500 Index, has a beta of 
1.0, and individual stocks are ranked according to how much they deviate from the market. A stock that swings more than the market over 
time has a beta above 1.0. If a stock moves less than the market, the stock's beta is less than 1.0.

Balanced fund: Mutual funds that seek both growth and income in a portfolio with a mix of common stock, preferred stock or bonds. The 
companies selected typically are in different industries and different geographic regions.

Bear market: A bear market is a prolonged period of falling stock prices, usually marked by a decline of 20% or more. A market in which 
prices decline sharply against a background of widespread pessimism, growing unemployment or business recession. The opposite of a bull 
market.
Benchmark: A standard, usually an unmanaged index, used for comparative purposes in assessing performance of a portfolio or mutual 
fund.
Beta: A measurement of volatility where 1 is neutral; above 1 is more volatile; and less than 1 is less volatile.
Black Swan Events: A black swan is an unpredictable event that is beyond what is normally expected of a situation and has potentially 
severe consequences. Black swan events are characterized by their extreme rarity, severe impact, and the widespread insistence they were 
obvious in hindsight.
Bond: A bond acts like a loan or an IOU that is issued by a corporation, municipality or the U.S. government. The issuer promises to repay 
the full amount of the loan on a specific date and pay a specified rate of return for the use of the money to the investor at specific time 
intervals.
Bull market: Any market in which prices are advancing in an upward trend. In general, someone is bullish if they believe the value of a 
security or market will rise. The opposite of a bear market.
- C -
Capital: The funds invested in a company on a long-term basis and obtained by issuing preferred or common stock, by retaining a portion of 
the company's earnings from date of incorporation and by long-term borrowing.

Capital gain: The difference between a security's purchase price and its selling price, when the difference is positive.

Capital loss: The amount by which the proceeds from a sale of a security are less than its purchase price.

INVESTMENT GLOSSARY

Page 9Consequent Capital Management



Capitalization: The market value of a company, calculated by multiplying the number of shares outstanding by the price per share.

Cash equivalent: A short-term money-market instrument, such as a Treasury bill or repurchase agreement, of such high liquidity and safety 
that it is easily converted into cash.

Code of Ethics: OHA Trustees, OHA officers, and OHA employees involved in the investment process shall refrain from personal business 
activity that could conflict with the proper execution and management of their investment program, or that could impair their ability to 
make impartial decisions.

Community Foundation: A community foundation is a public charity that typically focuses on supporting a geographical area, primarily by 
facilitating and pooling donations used to address community needs and support local nonprofits. Community foundations offer numerous 
types of grantmaking programs, frequently including donor-advised funds, endowments, scholarships, field-of-interest funds, giving circles 
and more. Community foundations are funded by donations from individuals, families, businesses and sometimes government grants. 
Community foundations offer a variety of programs designed to support the needs of the communities they serve, whether local or more 
broadly defined. Common areas of support include education and human services programs, such as literacy or aid for the homeless. A 
community foundation’s grantmaking programs are supported both by donations designated for immediate distribution and income from 
the foundation’s endowed funds.

Compound Returns: The compound return is the rate of return, usually expressed as a percentage, that represents the cumulative effect 
that a series of gains or losses has on an original amount of capital over a period of time. Compound returns are usually expressed in annual 
terms, meaning that the percentage number that is reported represents the annualized rate at which capital has compounded over time.

Consistent capital growth: This is the primary objective of the NHTF and is achieved by investing prudently in a wide range of asset classes 
to achieve proper diversification, thereby reducing volatility.

- D -
Default: Failure of a debtor to make timely payments of interest and principal as they come due or to meet some other provision of a bond 
indenture.
Discretionary investment management is a form of investment management in which buy and sell decisions are made by a portfolio 
manager or investment counselor for the client's account. The term "discretionary" refers to the fact that investment decisions are made at 
the portfolio manager's discretion. This means that the client must have the utmost trust in the investment manager's capabilities.

INVESTMENT GLOSSARY

Page 10Consequent Capital Management



Dispersion of Returns: Dispersion is often interpreted as a measure of the degree of uncertainty, and thus risk, associated with a particular 
security or investment portfolio.

Distribution of Returns: A probability distribution is a statistical function that describes all the possible values and likelihoods that a random 
variable can take within a given range. This range will be bounded between the minimum and maximum possible values, but precisely 
where the possible value is likely to be plotted on the probability distribution depends on a number of factors. These factors include the 
distribution's mean (average), standard deviation, skewness, and kurtosis.
Diversification: Diversification is a risk management strategy that creates a mix of various investments within a portfolio. A diversified 
portfolio contains a mix of distinct asset types and investment vehicles in an attempt to limit exposure to any single asset or risk. The 
rationale behind this technique is that a portfolio constructed of different kinds of assets will, on average, yield higher long-term returns 
and lower the risk of any individual holding or security; The process of owning different investments that tend to perform well at different 
times in order to reduce the effects of volatility in a portfolio, and also increase the potential for increasing returns.

Dividend: A dividend is a portion of a company's profit paid to common and preferred shareholders. Dividends provide an incentive to own
stock in stable companies even if they are not experiencing much growth. Companies are not required to pay dividends.
Dividend yield - Annual percentage of return earned by a mutual fund. The yield is determined by dividing the amount of the annual 
dividends per share by the current net asset value or public offering price.
Dollar cost averaging - Investing the same amount of money at regular intervals over an extended period of time, regardless of the share 
price. By investing a fixed amount, you purchase more shares when prices are low, and fewer shares when prices are high. This may reduce 
your overall average cost of investing.
Dow Jones Industrial Average (Dow): A commonly used indicator of stock market performance, based on prices of 30 actively traded blue 
chip stocks, primarily major industrial companies. The Average is the sum of the current market price of 30 major industrial companies' 
stocks divided by a number that has been adjusted to take into account stocks splits and changes in stock composition.

INVESTMENT GLOSSARY

Page 11Consequent Capital Management



- E -
Earnings per Share (EPS): The portion of a company's profit allocated to each outstanding share of common stock. EPS serves as an 
indicator of a company's profitability.
Endowment: An endowment is a gift to a nonprofit organization to be used for a specific purpose. The term endowment is also used to refer 
to the total investable assets of a nonprofit institution like a university. The endowment, also known as the institution's “principal” or 
“corpus,” is used for operations or programs that are consistent with the wishes of the donor(s). Most endowments are designed to keep 
the principal amount intact while the income is used to further the cause specified by the beneficiary. A restricted endowment must be held 
in perpetuity, with only the income available for spending.
Environmental, social and governance (ESG) integration: The systematic inclusion of financially material ESG factors in investment analysis 
and investment decisions, with the goal of enhancing long-term, risk adjusted financial returns:
•Environmental - Factors that relate to the quality and functioning of the natural environment, and natural systems, e.g., carbon emissions, 
environmental regulations, water stress and waste.
•Social - Factors that relate to the rights, well-being, and interests of people and communities, e.g., labor management, health & safety.
•Governance - Factors that relate to the management and oversight of companies and investee entities, e.g., board structure, pay.
Equities: Shares issued by a company which represent ownership in it. Ownership of property, usually in the form of common stocks, as
distinguished from fixed-income securities such as bonds or mortgages. Stock funds may vary depending on the fund's investment 
objective.
- F -
Federal Funds Rate (Fed Funds Rate): The interest rate charged by banks with excess reserves at a Federal Reserve district bank to banks 
needing overnight loans to meet reserve requirements. The most sensitive indicator of the direction of interest rates, since it is set daily by 
the market, unlike the prime rate and the discount rate, which are periodically changed by banks and by the Federal Reserve Board.
Federal Reserve Board (The Fed): The governing board of the Federal Reserve System, it regulates the nation's money supply by setting the 
discount rate, tightening or easing the availability of credit in the economy.
Financial materiality: An event or information that are reasonably likely to impact the financial condition or operating performance of a 
company and should be considered during the investment decision-making process.
Fixed income security: A security that pays a set rate of interest on a regular basis.
Fund: A pool of money from a group of investors in order to buy securities. The two major ways funds may be offered are (1) by companies 
in the securities business; and (2) by bank trust departments.

INVESTMENT GLOSSARY

Page 12Consequent Capital Management



- G -
Green bonds: A type of fixed-income instrument that is specifically earmarked to raise money for climate and environmental friendly 
projects.
Growth investing: Investment strategy that focuses on stocks of companies and stock funds where earnings are growing rapidly and are 
expected to continue growing.
Growth stock: Typically a well-known, successful company that is experiencing rapid growth in earnings and revenue, and usually pays little 
or no dividend.
- H -
Hedge Fund: A hedge fund is a limited partnership of private investors whose money is managed by professional fund managers who use a 
wide range of strategies, including leveraging or trading of non-traditional assets, to earn above-average investment returns. Hedge fund 
investment is often considered a risky alternative investment choice and usually requires a high minimum investment or net worth, often 
targeting wealthy clients.
- I -
Impact investing : A sustainable investment style that seeks to generate measurable positive social or environmental impact alongside 
financial return. Investment themes include activities such as affordable housing, education and healthcare.
Investment Beliefs/Philosophy: An investment philosophy is a set of beliefs and principles that guide an investor's decision-making process. 
It is not a narrow set of rules or laws, but more a set of guidelines and strategies that take into account one's goals, risk tolerance, time 
horizon, and expectations. As such, investment philosophy often goes hand-in-hand with a compatible investing style. Popular investment 
philosophies include value investing, focusing on shares that the investor believes are fundamentally underpriced; growth investing, which 
targets companies that are in a growth or expansion phase; and investing in securities that provide a return in interest income. Technical 
analysis and fundamental analysis are another pair of investment philosophies.
Impact investing: A sustainable investment style that seeks to generate measurable positive social or environmental impact alongside 
financial return. Investment themes include activities such as affordable housing, education and healthcare.
Investment stewardship: Engaging with companies and voting proxies to ensure our clients' interests are represented and protected and 
the company is focused on responsible allocation of capital and long-term value creation.

INVESTMENT GLOSSARY

Page 13Consequent Capital Management



Index: An investment index tracks the performance of many investments as a way of measuring the overall performance of a particular 
investment type or category. The S&P 500 is widely considered the benchmark for large-stock investors. It tracks the performance of 500 
large U.S. company stocks.
Inflation: A rise in the prices of goods and services, often equated with loss of purchasing power.
Information Ratio: The information ratio (IR) is a measurement of portfolio returns beyond the returns of a benchmark, usually an index, 
compared to the volatility of those returns. The benchmark used is typically an index that represents the market or a particular sector or 
industry. The IR is often used as a measure of a portfolio manager's level of skill and ability to generate excess returns relative to a 
benchmark, but it also attempts to identify the consistency of the performance by incorporating a tracking error, or standard deviation 
component into the calculation.
Interest rate: The fixed amount of money that an issuer agrees to pay the bondholders. It is most often a percentage of the face value of 
the bond. Interest rates constitute one of the self-regulating mechanisms of the market, falling in response to economic weakness and 
rising on strength.
Interest-rate risk: The possibility of a reduction in the value of a security, especially a bond, resulting from a rise in interest rates.
Investment advisor: An organization employed by a mutual fund to give professional advice on the fund's investments and asset 
management practices.
Investment company: An investment company is a corporation or trust engaged in the business of investing the pooled capital of investors 
in financial securities. This is most often done either through a closed-end fund or an open-end fund (also referred to as a mutual fund). In 
the U.S., most investment companies are registered with and regulated by the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) under the 
Investment Company Act of 1940. An investment company may be known as a "fund company" or "fund sponsor." They often partner with 
third-party distributors to sell mutual funds.
Investment Consultant: An investment consultant is a financial professional who provides investors with investment products, advice, 
and/or planning. Investment consultants do in-depth work on formulating investment strategies for clients, helping them fulfill their needs 
and reach their financial goals. Many financial advisors and financial planners would be considered investment consultants.
Investment Policy Statement (IPS): An IPS is a document drafted between a portfolio manager and a client that outlines general rules for 
the manager. This statement provides the general investment goals and objectives of a client and describes the strategies that the manager 
should employ to meet these objectives. Specific information on matters such as asset allocation, risk tolerance, and liquidity requirements 
are included in an investment policy statement.
Investment grade bonds: A bond generally considered suitable for purchase by prudent investors.
Investment objective :The goal of a mutual fund and its shareholders, e.g. growth, growth and income, income and tax-free income.

INVESTMENT GLOSSARY

Page 14Consequent Capital Management



- J -
Junk bond: A lower-rated, usually higher-yielding bond, with a credit rating of BB or lower; also known as a “high yield bond/security”.
- L -
Large-cap: The market capitalization of the stocks of companies with market values greater than $10 billion.
Liquidity: The ability to have ready access to invested money. Mutual funds are liquid because their shares can be redeemed for current 
value (which may be more or less than the original cost) on any business day; Core liquidity refers to the cash and other financial assets that 
banks possess that can easily be liquidated and paid out as part of operational cash flows (OCF). Examples of core liquidity assets would be 
cash, government (Treasury) bonds, and money market funds.
Liquidity requirement: Maintain adequate liquidity to meet all anticipated expenditures after sufficient notice.
Long-term investment strategy: A strategy that looks past the day-to-day fluctuations of the stock and bond markets and responds to 
fundamental changes in the financial markets or the economy.
Long-Term objective: The investment portfolio shall be designed with the objective of protecting principal while earning a rate of return 
that is targeted to meet or exceed the real spending rate and the strategic benchmark index of the Fund over the long term in order to 
preserve the Fund’s assets and ensure that sufficient liquidity will be available to cover future cash requirements; long-term is typically 
defined as over 1-year, but is often considered over five years for institutional investors with similarly matching lengths for liabilities and 
obligations.
- M -
Manager: In the NHTF a manager refers to any portfolio manager selected by the Advisor (Manager of Manager) to invest the Fund’s assets.
Manager of Managers (MoM): A manager of managers (MoM) approach is a type of oversight investment strategy whereby a manager 
chooses managers for an investment program and regularly monitors their performance; in the NHTF, the MoM is referred to as the 
Advisor.

Market Cycle: Market cycles include both a rising and a declining market; generally, a rising market will be defined as a period of at least
two consecutive quarters of rising stock prices and a declining market will be defined as a period of at least two consecutive quarters of 
declining stock prices; therefore, a Market Cycle (the minimum period of evaluation) shall be at least one year and more typically three to 
six years.
Management fee - The amount paid by an investor or fund to the investment advisor for its services.
Market price: The current price of an asset.
Market risk: The possibility that an investment will not achieve its target.

INVESTMENT GLOSSARY

Page 15Consequent Capital Management



Market timing: A risky investment strategy that calls for buying and selling securities in anticipation of market conditions.
Material: Material news is news that might affect the value of its securities or influence investors' decisions. It is any type of news that 
directly relates to moving the company's share price up or down or influences an investment decision.
Mid-cap: The market capitalization of the stocks of companies with market values between $3 to $10 billion (as of 2024).
Modigliani risk-adjusted performance (M2, M2, Modigliani–Modigliani measure or RAP): M2 is a measure of the risk-adjusted returns of 
some investment portfolio. It measures the returns of the portfolio, adjusted for the risk of the portfolio relative to that of some benchmark 
(e.g., the market). The measure is interpreted as the difference between the scaled excess return of the portfolio and that of the market, 
where the scaled portfolio has the same volatility as the market. It is derived from the widely used Sharpe ratio, but it has the significant 
advantage of being in units of percent return, which makes it dramatically more intuitive to interpret.
Money market mutual fund: A short-term investment that seeks to protect principal and generate income by investing in Treasury bills, CDs 
with maturities less than one year and other conservative investments.
Morningstar ratings: System for rating open- and closed-end mutual funds and annuities by Morningstar Inc. of Chicago. The system rates 
funds from one to five stars, using a risk-adjusted performance rating in which performance equals total return of the fund.
Mutual fund: Fund operated by an investment company that raises money from shareholders and invests it in stocks, bonds, options, 
commodities or money market securities.
- N -
NASDAQ - National Association of Securities Dealers Automated Quotations: A system, which is owned and operated by the National 
Association of Securities Dealers. NASDAQ is a computerized system that provides brokers and dealers with price quotations for securities 
traded over-the-counter as well as for many New York Stock Exchange listed securities.
Net Asset Value per share (NAV): The current dollar value of a single mutual fund share; also known as share price. The fund's NAV is 
calculated daily by taking the fund's total assets, subtracting the fund's liabilities, and dividing by the number of shares outstanding. The 
NAV does not include the sales charge. The process of calculating the NAV is called pricing.
- O -
Outsourced CIO (OCIO): An outsourced chief investment officer (OCIO) is a third-party provider that manages investment-related 
responsibilities for the clients of wealth management, investment management, and consulting firms. OCIOs assume multiple 
responsibilities related to investment management, particularly by evaluating portfolio managers and providing financial advisors with 
access to those managers. 

INVESTMENT GLOSSARY

Page 16Consequent Capital Management



- P -
Private Equities: Private equity describes investment partnerships that buy and manage companies before selling them. Private equity firms 
operate these investment funds on behalf of institutional and accredited investors. Private equity funds may acquire private companies or 
public ones in their entirety or invest in such buyouts as part of a consortium. They typically do not hold stakes in companies that remain 
listed on a stock exchange.
Par value: Par value is the amount originally paid for a bond and the amount that will be repaid at maturity. Bonds are typically sold in
multiples of $1,000.

Portfolio: A collection of investments owned by one organization or individual, and managed as a collective whole with specific investment 
goals in mind.

Portfolio allocation: Amount of assets in a portfolio specifically designated for a certain type of investment.
Portfolio holdings: Investments included in a portfolio.
Portfolio manager: The person or entity responsible for making investment decisions of the portfolio to meet the specific investment 
objective or goal of the portfolio.
Preferred stock: A class of stock with a fixed dividend that has preference over a company's common stock in the payment of dividends and 
the liquidation of assets. There are several kinds of preferred stock, among them adjustable-rate and convertible.
Premium: The amount by which a bond or stock sells above its par value.
Price-to-book: The price per share of a stock divided by its book value (net worth) per share. For a stock portfolio, the ratio is the weighted 
average price-to-book ratio of the stocks it holds.
Price-to-earnings (P/E) Ratio: A stock's price divided by its earnings per share, which indicates how much investors are paying for a 
company's earning power.
Prudent Person: A standard, defined as investments shall be made with judgment and care, under circumstances then prevailing, which 
persons of prudence, discretion and intelligence exercise in the management of their own affairs, not for speculation, but for investment, 
considering the probable safety of their capital as well as the probable income to be derived.
Public Pension Plan: The most common type of traditional pension is a defined-benefit plan. After employees retire, they receive monthly 
benefits from the plan, based on a percentage of their average salary over their last few years of employment. The formula accounts for 
how many years they worked for that company. Employers, and sometimes employees, contribute to fund those benefits. As an example, a 
pension plan might pay 1% for each year of the person's service times their average salary for the final five years of employment. An 
employee with 35 years of service at that company and an average final-years salary of $50,000 would receive $17,500 a year.

INVESTMENT GLOSSARY

Page 17Consequent Capital Management



Prospectus: Formal written offer to sell securities that sets forth the plan for proposed business enterprise or the facts 
concerning an existing one that an investor needs to make an informed decision. Prospectuses are also issued by mutual 
funds, containing information required by the SEC, such as history, background of managers, fund objectives and policies, 
financial statement, risks, services and fees.
Proxy: A shareholder vote on matters that require shareholders' approval.
- R -
R^2: The percentage of a fund's movements that result from movements in the index ranging from 0 to 100. A fund with an R2 of 100 
means that 100 percent of the fund's movement can completely be explained by movements in the fund's external index benchmark.
Ratings: Evaluations of the credit quality of bonds usually made by independent rating services. Ratings generally measure the probability of 
timely repayment of principal and interest on debt securities.
Recession: A downturn in economic activity, defined by many economists as at least two consecutive quarters of decline in a country's gross 
domestic product.
Redemption: Sale of fund shares by a shareholder.
Regulatory compliance requirement: Compliance with all existing and future applicable state and federal regulations.
Reinvestment option: Refers to an arrangement under which a mutual fund will apply dividends or capital gains distributions for its 
shareholders toward the purchase of additional shares.
Risk Management: Risk management involves identifying, analyzing, and accepting or mitigating uncertainty in investment decisions. Put 
simply, it is the process of monitoring and dealing with the financial risks associated with investing. Risk management essentially occurs 
when an investor or fund manager analyzes and attempts to quantify the potential for losses in an investment, such as a moral hazard, and 
then takes the appropriate action (or inaction) to meet their objectives and risk tolerance.
Risk tolerance: The degree to which you can tolerate volatility in your investment values.
- S -
Sector: A group of similar securities, such as equities in a specific industry.

Securities: The term "security" refers to a fungible, negotiable financial instrument that holds some type of monetary value. A security can 
represent ownership in a corporation in the form of stock, a creditor relationship with a governmental body or a corporation represented 
by owning that entity's bond; or rights to ownership as represented by an option.

INVESTMENT GLOSSARY

Page 18Consequent Capital Management



Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC): The federal agency created by the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934 that administers the 
laws governing the securities industry, including the registration and distribution of mutual fund shares.
Share: A unit of ownership in an investment, such as a share of a stock or a mutual fund.

Share classes: Classes represent ownership in the same fund but charge different fees. This can enable shareholders to choose the type of 
fee structure that best suits their particular needs.

Sharpe Ratio: A risk-adjusted measure that measures reward per unit of risk. The higher the Sharpe ratio, the better. The numerator is the 
difference between the Fund's annualized return and the annualized return of the risk-free instrument (T-Bills).
Small-cap: The market capitalization of the stocks of companies with market values less than $3 billion.
Sovereign Wealth Fund:  A sovereign wealth fund is a state-owned investment fund comprised of money generated by the government, 
often derived from a country's surplus reserves. SWFs provide a benefit for a country's economy and its citizens. The funding for a SWF can 
come from a variety of sources. Popular sources are surplus reserves from state-owned natural resource revenues, trade surpluses, bank 
reserves that may accumulate from budgeting excesses, foreign currency operations, money from privatizations, and governmental transfer 
payments. In general, sovereign wealth funds usually have a targeted purpose. Some countries have sovereign wealth funds that can be 
similar to venture capital for the private sector.
Standard of care: For the NHTF, the standard of care used is the "prudent person" standard, defined as investments shall be made with 
judgment and care, under circumstances then prevailing, which persons of prudence, discretion and intelligence exercise in the 
management of their own affairs, not for speculation, but for investment, considering the probable safety of their capital as well as the 
probable income to be derived.
Standard deviation: Standard deviation is a statistical measurement that looks at how far a group of numbers is from the mean. Put simply, 
standard deviation measures how far apart numbers are in a data set. This metric is calculated as the square root of the variance.
Standard & Poor's Index: Broad-based measurement of changes in stock market conditions based on the average performance of 500 
widely held common stocks commonly known as the Standard & Poor's 500 or S&P 500.
Standard Deviation: A statistical measure of the degree to which an individual value in a probability distribution tends to vary from the 
mean of the distribution.
Stock: A long-term, growth-oriented investment representing ownership in a company; also known as 'equity.'
Stockholder: The owner of common or preferred stock of a corporation. Also called 'shareholder.'
Sustainable investing: A forward-looking investment approach that aims to deliver long-term sustainable financial return in a fast changing 
world. It encompasses a wide ranging spectrum of approaches, the core of which starts with the incorporation of ESG information.

INVESTMENT GLOSSARY

Page 19Consequent Capital Management



- T -
Tail risk: Tail risk is a form of portfolio risk that arises when the possibility that an investment will move more than three standard 
deviations from the mean is greater than what is shown by a normal distribution. Tail risks include events that have a small probability of 
occurring and occur at both ends of a normal distribution curve.

Time horizon: The amount of time that you expect to stay invested in an asset or security.
Total return: Accounts for all of the dividends and interest earned before deductions for fees and expenses, in addition to any changes in 
the value of the principal, including share price, assuming the funds' dividends and capital gains are reinvested. Often, this percentage is 
presented in a specified period of time (one, five, ten years and/or life of fund). Also, a method of calculating an investment's return that 
takes share price changes and dividends into account.
Tracking Error: The active risk of the portfolio. It determines the annualized standard deviation of the excess returns between the portfolio 
and the benchmark.
Treasury bill: Negotiable short-term (one year or less) debt obligations issued by the U.S. government and backed by its full faith and credit.
Treasury bond: Negotiable long-term (10 years or longer) debt obligations issued by the U.S. government and backed by its full faith and 
credit.
Treasury note: Negotiable medium-term (one year to 10 years) debt obligations issued by the U.S. government and backed by its full faith 
and credit.
Treasury security: Securities issued by the U.S. Treasury Department and backed by the U.S. government.
Turnover Ratio: Percentage of holdings in a mutual fund that are sold in a specified period.
- V -
Variance: A variance is the average of the squared differences from the mean. To figure out the variance, calculate the difference between 
each point within the data set and the mean. Once you figure that out, square and average the results.

Valuation: An estimate of the value or worth of a company; the price investors assign to an individual stock.
Value investing: A strategy whereby investors purchase equity securities that they believe are selling below estimated true value. The 
investor can profit by buying these securities then selling them once they appreciate to their real value.
Value stock: Typically an overlooked or underpriced company that is growing at slower rates.
Volatility: The amount and frequency with which an investment fluctuates in value; The NHTF may experience a drawdown of principal, 
although over a full market cycle, the Advisors in aggregate are expected to produce a total annual return that will exceed inflation as 
measured by the Consumer Price Index (CPI) by five percent. It is anticipated that the Fund will experience an annualized average volatility 
of approximately 13% annually with a maximum rolling 12-month annualized volatility of roughly 20% over a market cycle (as of May 2024).

INVESTMENT GLOSSARY

Page 20Consequent Capital Management



- W -
Weighted avg. market cap: Most indexes are constructed by weighting the market capitalization of each stock on the index. In such an 
index, larger companies account for a greater portion of the index. An example is the S&P 500 Index.
Weighted average maturity: A Fund's WAM calculates an average time to maturity of all the securities held in the portfolio, weighted by 
each security's percentage of net assets. The calculation takes into account the final maturity for a fixed income security and the interest 
rate reset date for floating rate securities held in the portfolio. This is a way to measure a fund's sensitivity to potential interest rate 
changes.
- Y -
YTD - Year-to-date return on an investment including appreciation and dividends or interest.
Year-to-Date (YTD) total return: Year-to-date return on an investment including appreciation and dividends or interest.
Yield: Annual percentage rate of return on capital. The dividend or interest paid by a company expressed as a percentage of the current 
price.
Yield to maturity (YTM): Concept used to determine the rate of return an investor will receive if a long-term, interest-bearing investment, 
such as a bond, is held to its maturity date.
Yield to maturity distribution (YTDM): The average rate of return that will be earned on a bond if held to maturity.

INVESTMENT GLOSSARY

Page 21Consequent Capital Management



Consequent Capital Management, LLC (“Consequent”) is located at 1050 Queen Street, Suite 100, Honolulu, HI 96814
and our headquarters is located at 3344 Peachtree Road NE, Suite 800, Atlanta, GA 30326. This presentation is for
informational purposes only and does not constitute a complete description of Consequent’s investment services or
performance. This presentation is in no way a solicitation or offer to sell investment advisory services except, where
applicable, in states where we are registered or where an exemption or exclusion from such registration exists.
Information throughout this site, whether stock quotes, charts, articles, or any other statement or statements regarding
market or other financial information, is obtained from sources which providers shall be liable for any errors or
inaccuracies, regardless of cause, or the lack of timeliness of, or for any delay or interruption in the transmission
thereof to the user. THERE ARE NO WARRANTIES, EXPRESSED OR IMPLIED, AS TO ACCURACY, COMPLETENESS, OR
RESULTS OBTAINED FROM ANY INFORMATION POSTED ON THIS OR ANY “LINKED” presentation. Moreover, no client or
prospective client should assume that any such discussion serves as the receipt of, or a substitute for, personalized
advice from an investment professional. Consequent is not a law or accounting firm, and no portion of the
presentation content should be interpreted as legal, accounting or tax advice. Please remember that different types
of investments involve varying degrees of risk, and there can be no assurance that the future performance of any
specific investment or investment strategy will be profitable or equal any historical performance level(s). Please call
Consequent Capital Management, LLC at 404-883-2500 if you have any questions about this presentation or if you
would like a free copy of Consequent’s most recent Form ADV.

DISCLOSURE
STATEMENT

Page 22Consequent Capital Management



Honolulu Office
1050 Queen Street · Suite 100 · Honolulu, HI · 96814

Corporate Headquarters Office
3344 Peachtree Road NE · Suite 800 · Atlanta, GA · 
30326

P:  (404) 883-2500
E:  info@consequentgroup.com ·
W: consequentgroup.com





 

 
 

 

   

 

 

 

 

 

OFFICE OF HAWAIIAN AFFAIRS 

NATIVE HAWAIIAN TRUST FUND INVESTMENT 
POLICY STATEMENT, AS AMENDED1 

 

 

 

 
1 Source:   
ARM 03-05: Adopted May 29, 2003;  
ARM 08-04: Amended October 24, 2008;  
ARM 09-07: Amended August 3, 2009;   
ARM 10-02: Amended April 15, 2010;  
ARM 12-08: Amended September 27, 2012;   
ARM 14-03: Investment Policy Statement Revision (Approved June 19, 2014). Amend Action Item ARM 14-03 to 
remove the proposed OHA Investment Policy Statement change of Section 1.5 Spending Policy (page 2, Section 
Bl).  Approve amendment of the Investment Policy Statement of the Native Hawaiian Trust Fund Investment Policy 
Statement as described in Attachment "A" (Investment Policy Statement). ARM 14-03 Amendments to the 
Investment Policy Statement. (First reading June 4, 2014; Second reading June 19, 2014);  
RM 17-08: Amended August 24, 2017;  
RM 19-13: Amended; First reading: September 4, 2019; Second reading: September 19, 2019;  
RM 21-10: First reading: August 5, 2021; Second reading: August 12, 2021;  
RM 24-53: Adoption of a new Office of Hawaiian Affairs Native Hawaiian Trust Fund (NHTF) Investment Policy 
Statement (IPS). First reading: October 24, 2024; Second Reading: October 31, 2024. Amended Section 1.1 
Introduction and Purpose (page 89, first paragraph). 
 



 

2 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Table of Contents 

Section 1. Introduction and Purpose ...................................................................................... 89 

Section 2. General Beliefs and Objectives ............................................................................. 91 

Section 3. Investment Philosophy and Structure ................................................................. 94 

Section 4. Standards of Care ................................................................................................... 96 

Section 5. Delegation of Authority .......................................................................................... 97 

Section 6. Asset Allocation Guidelines ................................................................................. 101 

Section 7. Investment Guidelines .......................................................................................... 104 

Section 8. Hawai‘i Direct Investment Policy (HDIP) ........................................................ 107 

Section 9. Monitoring of Objectives and Results ............................................................... 109 

Section 10. Selecting and Reviewing Investment Managers ............................................ 110 

Section 11. Investment Risk Management Policy .............................................................. 116 

 

 

  

 



 

3 
 

THE OFFICE OF HAWAIIAN AFFAIRS NATIVE HAWAIIAN TRUST FUND 

 
INVESTMENT POLICY STATEMENT  

OBJECTIVES AND POLICY GUIDELINES 

 

Section 1. Introduction and Purpose 

1.1 Introduction.  

The investment policy statement governs the investment of assets held in the Office of Hawaiian Affairs Native 
Hawaiian Trust Fund (the “Fund"), which comprises both Financial Assets and Hawaiʻi Direct Investments. The 
Fund was established to manage assets/deposits from ongoing settlements of past-due income and proceeds from 
the use of Native Hawaiian Crown and Government Lands of the Hawaiian Kingdom also known as the “ceded” 
lands including submerged lands of the Public Land Trust that were previously underreported or underpaid. These 
deposits, which may include real estate or cash, are invested, and the returns are used to benefit Native Hawaiian 
beneficiaries. 

This policy statement outlines the investment policy for the Board of Trustees (“BOT”) of the Office of Hawaiian 
Affairs (“OHA”), OHA staff, Investment Consultant(s), Service Providers, and Investment Managers (where 
appropriate). It ensures that all stakeholders, including beneficiaries, are informed about the investment objectives, 
expectations, and requirements for the ongoing management of the Fund's assets. 

1.2 The Native Hawaiian Trust Fund.  

OHA’s mission is to mālama (protect) Hawai'i's people and environmental resources and the Trust Fund's assets. 
The mission aims to ensure the perpetuation of the Native Hawaiian culture, enhanced lifestyle, and the protection 
of entitlements thereby fostering a strong and healthy Hawaiian people and nation, recognized both nationally and 
internationally. The Fund’s overall goal is to provide superior investment returns to sustain the beneficiaries in 
perpetuity and to uphold OHA’s mission.  

1.3 Purpose of the Investment Policy Statement.  

In accordance with the fiduciary requirements and obligations of all parties involved in managing the Fund under 
existing Federal and State laws, the purposes of this Investment Policy Statement (“Statement” or “IPS”) are to 
document the investment management process by: 

a) Identifying the key roles and responsibilities relating to the ongoing management of the Fund. 
 

b) Setting forth an investment structure for the Fund assets. 
 

c) Establishing formalized criteria to measure, monitor, and evaluate the Fund’s performance results 
regularly.  

 
d) Encouraging effective communication among all fiduciaries, including external parties engaged in 

executing investment strategies. 

This Statement represents the BOT's philosophy regarding the investment of the Fund’s assets. The BOT will 
review and revise the Statement as needed to ensure that it continues to reflect the BOT’s expectations and 
objectives. All of the BOT’s modifications or amendments to the Statement shall be made in writing. 
It is also intended that the investment policies be sufficiently specific to be meaningful, but adequately flexible to 
be practicable. It is further understood that all performance standards and return objectives in this Statement are 
intended as evaluation tools for determining whether to continue to retain the Managers. The parties understand 



 

4 
 

that the Managers cannot give assurance of actual investment results and that the Managers understand that the 
BOT will terminate its relationship with a Manager based on a determination that the Manager is not achieving the 
performance standards. 

 
1.4 Staff and Service Providers.  
 
The BOT oversees the execution of the IPS through OHA staff and service providers. The staff and service 
providers conduct activities according to guidelines and strategy mandates derived from OHA policies designed to 
achieve the goals and objectives of the organization. The BOT maintains its fiduciary responsibility to the NHTF 
through the setting of investment policies and approval of investment guidelines that are implemented by its staff 
and service providers. Staff and service providers are accountable to the BOT for investment results and execution 
and will regularly report on its activities to the BOT in a transparent and comprehensible method as practiced by 
the investment management industry. While discretion over certain tasks and decisions is permitted by staff and 
service providers by the BOT, such activities should be proscribed and achieved in an understood methodology 
that can periodically be confirmed. 

 
 

  



 

5 
 

Section 2. General Beliefs and Objectives  

2.1 Investment Beliefs about Capital Markets 

At the Office of Hawaiian Affairs, we hold the following investment beliefs: 

a) Financial capital markets trend toward efficiency over the long-term as reflected in the fundamental 
characteristics of a strategy, investment opportunity, or vehicle, and are therefore appropriate for 
the NHTF to achieve its long-term objectives of consistent capital growth and capital preservation. 

b) When financial markets are considered more efficient such as when numerous investors are “price-
takers”, it is appropriate for the NHTF to seek out low-cost passive investment strategies such as 
broadly diversified large-capitalization index funds. 

c) Financial capital markets do experience episodes of inefficiency, particularly in sub-market cycle 
periods, when information is not dispersed widely and investors exhibit non-rational or behavioral 
flaws in decision-making, and therefore more active management is preferable, such in private 
markets and anomaly capture strategies, for example, long-short equity neutral or volatility premium 
harvesting. 

d) When financial capital market inefficiencies are expected to persist over an expected period of 
market dislocation due to changes in market conditions, investor behavior, external intervention, or 
a combination thereof, it is appropriate for the NHTF to seek excess returns (sometimes called alpha) 
and market premium (one being the illiquidity risk premium) as measured through benchmark 
outperformance. 

e) Market participants inherently have conflicting self-interest and levels of organizational quality such 
that OHA’s execution of policies and procedures can yield important operational benefits through 
vetting of agency issues and ensuring appropriate alignment of interests for the performance of the 
NHTF and benefits of the Native Hawaiian people, today and into the future. 

f) Technology innovations, intellectual insights, and product engineering continually present investors 
with evolving opportunities that can lead to enhanced investment performance, which OHA will 
evaluate the risk/return qualities of such developments for the NHTF, with the intention of avoiding 
trendy over-hyped investment narratives while considering substantial enhancements that create 
lasting value and good for the economy and society as a whole. Ongoing education is an essential 
part of monitoring the NHTF over time in order to stay current with the changing nature of markets 
and the industry. 

g) Investing in financial capital markets present a plethora of risks to capital, organization, and 
reputation that are manifest in the markets, businesses, and people that comprise investment markets 
and opportunities which OHA believes can be measured and managed actively in the NHTF 
exhibited by metrics, adequate diversification, downside protection, and proper initial and ongoing 
due diligence. 

h) OHA believes that investments in the financial capital markets can adhere to Hawaiian values as 
articulated by the Board of Trustees, Mana i Mauli Ola (strategic plan), and other contemporary and 
historical cultural practices through the active efforts to build the NHTF’s investment portfolio to 
mālama Hawaiʻi’s people and environmental resources, and OHA’s assets, toward ensuring the 
perpetuation of the culture, the enhancement of lifestyle and the protection of entitlements of Native 
Hawaiians, while enabling the building of a strong and healthy Hawaiian people and lāhui, 
recognized nationally and internationally. 



 

6 
 

2.2 Financial Objectives 

The financial objectives of the Fund ensure the sustainability and effectiveness of its programs by balancing immediate 
financial support with long-term fund growth. These strategic goals include: 

a) To provide permanent funding for OHA’s programs. This objective addresses the need to ensure 
intergenerational equity by providing the same level of program support in the future as it provides 
today. 

b) To maintain the Fund's purchasing power after spending and inflation. This objective emphasizes 
the importance of taking a long-term perspective for periods of 10 years or more in formulating 
spending and investment policies. 

c) To provide a predictable and stable source of income for OHA’s programs.  This objective is 
achieved through a well-defined spending policy.  

d) To provide a maximum level of return consistent with prudent risk levels.  This objective involves 
constructing a globally diversified, equity-oriented, portfolio coupled with active risk management.  

2.3 Spending Objectives 

The annual amount withdrawn from the Native Hawaiian Trust Fund shall constitute no more than five percent 
(5%) annually of the Financial Assets market value and the prior year's net distributable cash flows of the Hawaiʻi 
Real Estate portfolio.  The calculation of the maximum withdrawal amounts is outlined in the Native Hawaiian 
Trust Fund Spending Policy. 

a) For Financial Assets – up to 5%, Rolling 20-quarter market average 

b) For Hawaiʻi Real Estate – Prior year net distributable cash flows 

2.4 Investment Objectives 

To achieve the Fund's financial goals and support its programs effectively, the following investment objectives 
are established: 

a) Spending Requirement: Based on the long-term spending policy, the Fund must attain an average 
annual real total return of 5% over the long term (CPI + 5% objective).  The real total return is 
adjusted for inflation by the Consumer Price Index. Using the historical average inflation rate of 3% 
implies a nominal total return hurdle of 8% to meet the spending requirement. 

b) Policy Benchmark: The Fund's investment performance will be evaluated on a risk-adjusted basis 
against a blend of market indices. The expectation is that the Fund’s diversification will produce 
risk-adjusted returns that meet or exceed those of the blended market indices over the long term. 
This benchmark helps assess the effectiveness of the underlying strategies and any tactical 
deviations from the strategic asset allocation. 

c) Secondary Benchmark: The Fund's performance will also be measured against a secondary policy 
benchmark consisting of a 65% equity (MSCI ACWI net) and 35% bond (Bloomberg US Aggregate 
Bond) blend of market indices. This comparison is useful in evaluating the effectiveness of an active 
management program versus a passive management approach. 

d) Hawaiʻi Direct Investments: In alignment with OHA’s mission, values, and goals, Hawaiʻi Direct 
Investments should aim to generate a long-term real total return of 5% to support the Fund's 
spending contributions. 



 

7 
 

e) Performance Attainability: While it is recognized that the investment objective stated above may be 
difficult to attain every five years but should be attainable over a series of five- and ten-year periods.



 

8 
 

Section 3. Investment Philosophy and Structure 

1.1 Investment Philosophy.  
 
The investment of the Native Hawaiian Trust Fund is based on a set of beliefs and practices:  
 

a) Invest for the long-term  

1. Preserve capital for use by future generations 

2. Focus on asset allocation as the primary determinant of return 

3. Avoid short-term speculative activity 

4. Accept illiquidity if justified by higher alpha  

5. Bias towards equity investments 

b) Build a well-diversified portfolio 

1. Limit risk by combining uncorrelated strategies 

2. Maintain meaningful exposure to major capital markets 

3. Tilt towards value strategies  

4. Employ fundamental research-driven and bottom-up strategies  

5. Take advantage of global market inefficiencies  

c) Invest primarily with active managers 

1. Use indexed and enhanced indexed strategies where appropriate 

2. Focus resources on inefficient markets (e.g., venture capital, private equity, hedge funds, 
and emerging markets)  

3. Manage the portfolio exposures actively in response to changing market conditions 

d) Hawaiʻi Direct Investments  

a) Consistent with OHA’s Mission, values, goals, and resources 

b) Generate sufficient economic returns to support spending contribution 

c) Hawaiʻi Real Estate will remain a substantial portion of the NHTF, given OHA’s legacy 
and identity as a Native Hawaiian organization 

3.2 Investment Management Structure 

The Fund is comprised of Financial Assets and Hawaii Direct Investments, each with its own investment structure 
and guidelines. 



 

9 
 

3.3 Financial Assets  

a) External Investment Management: Financial Assets are managed by external investment firms 
selected based on: 

1. Experience and succession planning of key personnel 

2. Consistency in investment approach 

3. Effectiveness of decision-making processes 

4. Assets under management and capacity management plans 

5. Organizational structure, including administration, risk management, and reporting 

6. Ethical and financial stability of the firm 

7. Performance history 

8. Fee structure 

9. Fit within the Fund's overall structure 

b) Internal Investment Options: Financial Assets may also be invested internally in passive equity 
and bond indices using cash market securities or derivative instruments. 

c) Investment Management: Equities (public and private), Real Assets, Absolute Return, and 
Fixed Income will be managed separately. To ensure diversification, equity investments will 
be allocated to managers with distinct investment philosophies. Managers have the discretion 
to manage their portfolios according to the investment objectives and guidelines outlined in this 
policy statement.   

3.4  Hawaiʻi Direct Investments  

OHA’s Hawaiʻi Direct Investments focus on both (1) commercial real estate holdings and (2) residential real 
estate holdings in Hawai‘i with an economic emphasis.    

a) Internal Management: OHA utilizes internal management for these assets 

b) Strategic Development: Management will create and implement a strategy that incorporates 
both economic and cultural considerations. 

e) Expert Consultation: Internal management will utilize the expertise of OHA’s Real Estate 
Advisory Committee and external real estate consultants.  

  



 

10 
 

Section 4. Standards of Care 

1.1 Board of Trustees and OHA Staff.  

The standard of care applied to the BOT and OHA internal staff assigned to the Fund shall be the "prudent person" 
standard, defined as follows: "Investments shall be made with judgment and care, under circumstances then 
prevailing, which persons of prudence, discretion and intelligence exercise in the management of their own affairs, 
not for speculation, but for investment, considering the probable safety of their capital as well as the probable 
income to be derived." The BOT may rely upon the expert advice and counsel of its external providers to satisfy 
the “prudent person” standard provided the BOT has established adequate controls and fulfills its oversight 
responsibilities regarding the external providers as outlined in this Statement. 

 
1.2 External Providers.  

 
The standard of care applied to all external providers (i.e., Consultants, Service Providers, Custodian, Managers) 
shall be as set forth in the agreement with OHA as appropriate, and each external provider. The BOT will negotiate 
through the CEO. a standard for the Investment Managers that is similar in effect to the "prudent expert" standard, 
defined as: "Investments shall be managed with the care, skill, prudence, and diligence, under the circumstances 
then prevailing, that a prudent person acting in a like capacity and familiar with such matters would use in the 
conduct of an enterprise of a like character and with like aims." 

 
1.3 Code of Ethics.  

 
OHA Trustees, officers, and employees shall abide by the Standard of Conducts established under Chapter 84 of 
the Hawai‘i Revised Statues and the code of ethics stated in the OHA Bylaws and, where appropriate, the OHA 
Employee Handbook and the BOT Executive Policy Manual. 
 
OHA Trustees, officers, and employees involved in the investment process shall refrain from personal business 
activity that could conflict with the proper execution and management of their investment program or that could 
impair their ability to make impartial decisions.  The OHA Trustees and employees shall disclose any material 
interests in financial institutions with which they conduct business and any personal financial/investment positions 
that could be related to the performance of the investment portfolio.  
 
OHA employees and officers shall refrain from undertaking personal investment transactions with entities that 
conduct business with the Fund. Trustees with personal involvement in direct investment transactions or any 
perceived conflicts of interest must disclose the involvement immediately and recuse themselves from related 
discussions and votes. 

  



 

11 
 

 

Section 5. Delegation of Authority 

The Office of Hawaiian Affairs Native Hawaiian Trust Fund maintains a structured and organized process in 
implementing its investment program. To accomplish the mission, objectives and desired investment returns of the 
Fund, the Board of Trustees has delegated authority to various individuals and organizations. 

5.1 BOT Composition.  
 
The BOT currently consists of representatives from: 

a) O'ahu 
b) Kaua'i and Ni'ihau 
c) Moloka'i and Lana'i 
d) Hawai'i 
e) Maui 
f) At large (4) 

 

5.2 BOT Responsibilities.  

The BOT is the fiduciary responsible for the NHTF achieving its objectives and, therefore, sets overall policy 
direction, including approving the IPS, asset allocation targets and ranges, benchmarks, spending policy, and 
other guidelines for management. The BOT also ensures that the functions necessary to manage the NHTF 
successfully are properly resourced. 

The BOT recognizes that it may not possess sufficient expertise to manage the assets of the Fund directly. 
Therefore, the BOT employs various external experts to act as Fiduciaries - Consultants, Managers, and/or 
Custodians, seeking advice from independent parties. The BOT relies on this expertise in carrying out its 
responsibility to oversee the overall management of the Fund’s assets and will meet quarterly to review the 
performance of the NHTF and the activities of the external providers for reasonable consistency with the 
objectives of the Fund as set forth in this IPS. When necessary, the BOT will provide guidance to the investment 
process. BOT may delegate the execution of certain of its responsibilities to the CEO to assist with the 
implementation of this Statement. BOT responsibilities include, but are not limited to: 
 

a) Approve the Investment Policy Statement and all modifications to the Statement; 

b) Approve Consultants, Service Providers, and Fund Managers, including Non-Marketable 
Alternatives Providers; 

c) Monitor results of all Fund assets and strategies.  The BOT shall include in its quarterly 
assessment such topics as economic outlook, portfolio diversification, asset allocation, 
Managers’ strategies, potential risks, and the performance of the overall portfolio as well as each 
of the Fund’s asset classes versus its benchmark rate of return and peer institutions; 

d) Review quarterly reports regarding the activities of Consultant(s) and OHA staff overseeing the 
Fund; 

e) Review quarterly reports from the Custodian and Managers regarding the composition of each 
Manager’s assets under management versus the Fund’s strategic target and the asset class 
strategies of each Manager; 

f) Review the quarterly report of the Consultant regarding the performance of the Fund and the 
Managers; 

g) As necessary, review the Fund’s strategic direction or significant issues impacting the Fund or 



 

12 
 

Fiduciaries and take action as appropriate; 

h) Attend a minimum of two investment educational events held in Hawai‘i each year; and 
 

i) Attend at least one out-of-state training, educational, or due diligence event approved by the 
Chairperson of the BOT. 

 

5.3 Duties of the Consultant, CEO, and OHA Staff .  
 
The duties of the Consultant will be as set forth in the agreement entered into between the BOT and the Consultant. 
The duties of the CEO and OHA staff will be set forth in the OHA Native Hawaiian Trust Fund Operational 
Procedures. The BOT is responsible for approving these Operational Procedures and for reviewing and approving 
all investment decisions not made by a Manager, unless expressively granted to another party as a fiduciary acting 
on behalf of the BOT. The Consultant and OHA staff are responsible for assisting the BOT in the execution of their 
responsibilities. Duties of the Consultant(s) and OHA staff jointly include, but are not limited to: 

 

a) Monitor the performance of each Manager’s portfolio as frequently as market conditions 
dictate, including review of the Manager’s monthly reports; 

b) Aggregate as necessary and monitor the performance of the Fund’s investment portfolios 
monthly and prepare quarterly performance and Manager activity reports for review by the 
Budget and Finance Committee of the BOT; 

c) Monitor the monthly reconciliation of the portfolio positions and valuations among the 
Custodian and Advisors (OHA staff only); 

d) Seek to ensure that assets are invested in accordance with the requirements specified in this 
Statement; 

e) Recommend to the BOT through the Budget and Finance Committee and implement operational 
procedures that will enhance the investment program of the Fund and ensure that proper internal 
controls are implemented to safeguard the assets of the Fund, including preparing Investment 
Guideline Summaries for each of the Managers; 

f) Recommend benchmarks for approval to the Budget and Finance Committee; 

g) Prepare periodic market-cycle and annual reviews of the Fund’s investments and the Managers’ 
performance, including findings from annual due diligence visits for presentation to the BOT; 

h) Attend industry conferences and conduct onsite due diligence of the Managers and Custodian 
biennial or as frequently as necessary; 

i) Evaluate the reasonableness of recommendations of Managers regarding investment decisions 

and  

j) policies requiring the approval of the Budget and Finance Committee;  

Evaluate and recommend Direct Investments in Hawaii for the approval of the CEO and BOT, as 

appropriate. 



 

13 
 

5.4 Duties of the Managers.  
 

The duties of the Managers shall be as set forth in the agreements entered between the BOT and the Managers 
and will explicitly include this Statement as an addendum. The Managers act as Fiduciaries of the NHTF for the 
assets they have under management. Duties of the Advisors include, but are not limited to: 
 

a) Invest the assets of the Fund within the constraints of the Statement while adhering to the 
investment management style, concepts, and principles for which they were retained by the 
BOT. Managers are responsible for tactical asset allocation and manager selection unless 
otherwise stated in the management and/or trust agreement with OHA; 

b) Where applicable per the manager management agreement, recommend specific investments 
and provide strategic and/or tactical investment advice to the BOT, CEO, OHA staff, and 
Consultant(s) as appropriate to render a decision that will achieve the Fund’s investment 
objectives; 

c) Seek to achieve best execution and price for all transactions effected on behalf of the Fund with 
brokers and dealers qualified to execute institutional orders on an ongoing basis and, if 
appropriate, facilitate the recapture of commissions on behalf of the Fund; 

d) Reconcile within tolerance limits monthly accounting, transaction, valuation, and asset 
summary data with the Custodian’s transactions, valuations, and holdings, including resolving 
any discrepancies with the Custodian; 

e) For investments where a market value is unavailable, assist the Custodian in finding appropriate 
pricing sources or establishing fair value procedures. 

f) Report to the BOT on all significant material matters pertaining to their firm's ownership, 
investment style and philosophy, changes in personnel, and performance relevant to the 
management of the Fund. Items relevant to the Fund include those that would have a direct or 
indirect impact on the ability of the Manager to continue to provide a high level of service; 

g) Vote the proxies of invested companies, as deemed appropriate, although the BOT reserves the 
right to vote proxies in separately managed accounts if it so chooses; 

h) Periodically conduct capital market studies and make recommendations to the BOT regarding 
changes to the Statement and strategic asset allocation targets and ranges based on the 
risk/return objectives of the Fund and the economic and market outlook. The timing of these 
analyses, and either reaffirmation or recommendation of modifications to this Statement, shall 
be as agreed upon with the BOT, but normally every two to five years, but no less frequently 
than every six years; 

i) Communicate with the Consultant(s) and/or OHA staff on at least a monthly basis regarding 
actions taken or any material changes, issues, or circumstances warranting attention, including 
the performance of the Fund, market conditions, and outlook, manager-turnover, Managers’ 
staff turnover; 

j) Prepare quarterly and present at least biennially quarterly executive summary report to the BOT 
as requested by the Consultant(s) or OHA staff, including performance versus benchmarks, 
asset allocation, economic outlook, fees, Manager summary, and any other significant issues 
impacting the Fund; 

k) Assist the Consultant(s) and OHA staff in preparing Investment Guideline Summaries for the 
approval of the CEO and Budget and Finance Committee covering the assets under their 
management and annually prepare a compliance and derivatives usage report (Each Advisor’s 



 

14 
 

Investment Guideline Summary will govern the assets under their management in conjunction 
with the Investment Policy Statement and the Investment Management Agreement between the 
Manager and OHA); 

l) Host a biannual onsite comprehensive and/or topical due diligence for the Consultant(s) and 
OHA staff and officials and, as requested, provide portfolio analytics and style consistency 
adherence at the manager-level for the Manager’s commingled vehicles; 

m) Negotiate and arrange for brokerage and any applicable recordkeeping services; 

n) Render special projects at the request of the BOT, the Consultant(s) or OHA staff; and 

Provide certain other services, as described elsewhere in this Statement, such as investment 
training, market research, educational programs, analytical tools, etc. 
 

5.5 Duties of the Custodian.  
 

The duties of the Custodian shall be as set forth in the agreement between the BOT and the 
Custodian. In addition to other responsibilities contained in that agreement, the Custodian will: 

 
a) Provide complete custody and depository services for the Fund’s assets, including obtaining 

market values or fair values for all assets on at least a monthly basis; 

b) Provide a monthly report of transactions by the Managers and, where applicable, by OHA  as 
set forth in the Custody agreement; 

c) Provide audited monthly and annual accounting statements for all the Fund’s assets and 
transactions; 

d) Collect all interest income, dividends, and principal realization and properly report them in all 
accounting statements; 

e) Disperse funds to cover expenses, accept funds from OHA or the Managers, and disperse funds 
to OHA or the Managers as properly instructed by the CEO or OHA staff, and properly report 
these transactions in all accounting statements and periodically to the BOT through the Budget 
and Finance Committee; and 

f) Reconcile monthly accounting, transaction, and asset summary data and communicate and 
resolve any discrepancies with the Managers. 

  



 

15 
 

Section 6. Asset Allocation Guidelines 

The Native Hawaiian Trust  Fund is comprised of Financial Assets and Hawaii Direct Investments to achieve its 
investment objectives. 

1.1 Financial Assets. 

Financial Assets consist of three broad categories: Capital Appreciation, Diversifying Strategies, and Capital 
Preservation.  These three categories may be broken into more specific capital market asset classes as defined in 
the Strategic Asset Allocation. 

a) Capital Appreciation: The purpose is to provide capital growth that will enable the Fund to 
meet its spending requirements while preserving its purchasing power for future generations. 
The strategy consists of an integrated blend of global developed and emerging markets equity, 
real assets, and opportunistic investments (e.g., credit). It is recognized that these strategies 
entail the assumption of greater market variability and risk. 

b) Diversifying Strategies: Diversifying Strategies are investment strategies intended to provide 
uncorrelated returns with the other asset classes (e.g., capital appreciation, global fixed income, 
and real assets) and achieve favorable risk/return characteristics. They are typically structured 
as hedge funds but may also include shorter-duration drawdown vehicles such as private credit. 
They may take both long and short positions, use leverage and derivatives, and actively manage 
market exposure. Diversifying Strategies investments will be made through external managers 
and diversified across multiple sub-strategies. 

c) Capital Preservation: The purpose is to provide liquidity in support of spending and capital 
commitments, create a deflation hedge, and reduce the overall volatility of the Fund. Capital 
Preservation investments are fixed-income and cash investments made through external 
managers and diversified across US government securities and high-quality corporate credit 
issuers.  

1.2 Hawaiʻi Direct Investments. 

Hawaiʻi Direct Investments consist of commercial and residential real estate that OHA directly owns, focusing on 
total return to meet current and future spending requirements.  The investment objective is to outperform, net of 
commissions and fees, a blend of real estate indices that reflect the holdings of commercial and residential properties.  
Hawaiʻi Direct Investments allocation will be limited to 20% of the total NHTF. 

1.3 Short-term and Long-term Targets. 

The policy portfolio is structured using both short-term and long-term targets and ranges. The long-term targets 
will be phased in over three years. The target asset allocation reflects the Fund’s long-term risk and return 
objective and establishes a normative allocation against which shorter-term asset allocation decisions can be 
gauged. 

Private Market investments are accomplished through the controlling fund documents and management 
agreement with OHA, as negotiated by OHA staff with input from relevant service providers and review from the 
Consultant(s). The private market managers, OHA staff, and the Consultant(s) with sufficient information and 
analyses to evaluate their investment recommendations. The information may include due diligence reports and 
portfolio analytics so that OHA can assess the prospects of the strategy. It is acknowledged that there may be 
underinvestment or overinvestment in these illiquid asset classes due to the timing of capital calls and 
distributions.



 

16 
 

1.4 Asset Allocation 

Asset Class Portfolios Maximum Minimum 
Short-Term  

Target 

Long Term 

Target 
Benchmark Index 

Global Equities  60% 30% 45% 37% MSCI ACWI(net) 

Global Real Asset 10% 0% 4% 4% TIPS +3% 

Private Equity & Venture 30% 0% 10% 17% MSCI ACWI(net) +3% 

Opportunistic 10% 0% 0% 0% S&P/LSTA Middle Market Index 

Total Capital Appreciation 80% 40% 59% 59%  

Absolute Return 20% 8% 13% 13% HRFI Fund-of-Funds 

Total Diversifying  20% 10% 13% 13%  

US Fixed Income 30% 10% 17% 17% Bloomberg US Aggregate 

Cash 10% 0% 0% 0% 3-Month T-Bills 

Total Capital Preservation 40% 10% 17% 17%     

Total Financial Assets   89% 89% Policy Portfolio 

Hawai‘i Direct Investments  20% 0% 11% 11% NACREIF 

Total NHTF  100% 100% Policy Portfolio* 

 
*The short-term strategic targets for the asset classes listed in the table, when multiplied by the benchmarks recommended by the OHA staff and 
consultant and approved by the BOT, form the Policy Portfolio. 
 
The table below represents the Asset Allocation for Financial Assets: 
 
6.4 Asset Allocation – Financial Assets 



 

17 
 

Asset Class Portfolios Maximum Minimum 
Short-Term  

Target 

Long Term 

Target 
Benchmark Index 

Global Equities  60% 40% 50% 42% MSCI ACWI(net) 

Global Real Assets 10% 0% 5% 5% TIPS +3% 

Private Equity & Venture 30% 0% 11% 19% MSCI ACWI(net) +3% 

Opportunistic 10% 0% 0% 0% S&P/LSTA Middle Market Index 

Total Capital Appreciation 80% 40% 66% 66%  

Absolute Return 20% 10% 15% 15% HRFI Fund-of-Funds 

Total Diversifying  20% 10% 15% 15%  

US Fixed Income 30% 10% 19% 19% Bloomberg US Aggregate 

Cash 10% 0% 0% 0% 3-Month T-Bills 

Total Capital Preservation 40% 10% 19% 19%  

Total Financial Assets   100% 100% Policy Portfolio 

 

6.5 Benchmarks and Allocation Ranges 

The strategic asset allocation targets and ranges, performance benchmarks, and investment guidelines will be formally 
reviewed at least once every three years. If necessary, the Consultant(s) and OHA staff will recommend changes to the 
BOT through the Budget and Finance Committee. Any changes must be approved before they become effective.  

Each Manager will be assigned an asset class and a primary strategic benchmark index determined by the Consultant(s) 
and OHA staff.  

The BOT recognizes that the actual asset allocation of the Fund may vary between or even outside of the minimum and 
maximum in the short-term, depending on market conditions. Asset classes not contemplated· above or elsewhere in 
this Policy may be added upon approval in writing by the BOT.  The Managers will only be responsible for meeting 
the investment objectives applicable to the portion of the Fund entrusted to such Managers. 

6.6 Rebalancing Policy  



 

18 
 

OHA rebalances its Financial Assets to maintain its allocation within defined ranges. The primary purpose of 
rebalancing is to ensure that the Fund's actual asset allocation does not drift too far from the strategic asset allocation.  



 

19 
 

Section 7. Investment Guidelines  

1.1 Guidelines for Capital Appreciation.  

a) Includes growth-oriented strategies that are integrated to meet the Fund’s long-term spending 
objectives and sustain the portfolio in perpetuity. 

b) The objective is to outperform, net of fees, a representative risk-adjusted blend of market 
indices that reflect the strategic asset allocation of the Capital Appreciation portfolio.  Also, 
performance on each sub-category will be monitored against the average return of a universe 
of active managers and/or fund-of-funds. The performance will be monitored regularly and 
evaluated over rolling five- and ten-year periods. 

c) In recognition of the increasing correlation among asset classes, the Capital Appreciation 
strategies represent a market-oriented mix of global developed and emerging markets equity, 
real estate, commodities, venture capital, private equity, and opportunistic investments such as 
credit securities  

d) Strategies will be broadly diversified by country, economic sector, industry, number of 
holdings, number of managers, and other investment characteristics. The Capital Appreciation 
strategies may contain a mix of actively and passively managed strategies to achieve its 
investment objective.  Direct and derivative investments, commingled funds, private limited 
partnerships, and fund-of-funds may be used. 

e) The investment managers employed will have broad discretion on individual country and 
security selection decisions, security size, and quality, a number of industries and holdings, 
proxy voting, current income levels, and turnover.  The usual standards of fiduciary prudence 
set forth in this policy statement and individual investment management agreements and 
guidelines apply. 

f) If allowed under their investment guidelines, managers may, at their discretion, hold investment 
reserves of either cash equivalents or bonds.  Derivatives may be used to manage certain 
exposures, such as currency or market risk, if specified under individual investment manager 
guidelines. 

1.2 Guidelines for Diversifying Strategies 

a) The objective of the Diversifying strategies is to outperform a hedge fund-of-funds benchmark, 
net of commissions and fees. Performance will be monitored regularly and evaluated over 
rolling five- and ten-year periods. 

b) Diversifying strategies are intended to generate meaningful returns while reducing equity 
market sensitivity.  These strategies may include hedge funds, asset-backed securities, and 
opportunistic credit. Implementation will be made through direct investments, limited 
partnerships, or fund-of-funds. 

1.3 Guidelines for the Capital Preservation 

a) The Capital Preservation strategies provide liquidity to meet current spending needs and 
stability to protect capital in down markets. 

b) The objective of the Capital Preservation strategies is to outperform, net of commissions and 
fees, a blend of market indices that reflect the fund's strategic asset allocation. Performance will 
be monitored regularly and evaluated over rolling five—and ten-year periods. 



 

20 
 

c) The Fixed-Income strategy may contain money market instruments, domestic and foreign 
government bonds, and other high-quality investment vehicles with risk/return characteristics 
consistent with the Capital Preservation Fund's investment objectives. Derivatives may be used 
to manage certain exposures as specified under individual investment manager guidelines. 

d) Fixed-income managers are expected to employ active management techniques, including 
maturity, sector, and quality considerations. Implementation may also be achieved through 
passive indices, commingled funds, and limited partnerships. 

1.4 Guidelines for Hawaiʻi Direct Investments  

a) The objective of Hawaiʻi Real Estate strategies is to outperform, net of commissions and fees, 
a blend of real estate indices that reflect the Fund's holdings. Performance will be monitored 
regularly and evaluated over rolling five- and ten-year periods. 

b) All direct investments should demonstrate the ability to generate current income and capital 
gains consistent with the asset class benchmark index and the Fund’s long-term objective.   

c) Only economical Hawaiʻi Real Estate Property is included in the Fund.   

d) OHA may finance the real estate acquisition or development with a mortgage. The property 
may be pledged as collateral under a non-recourse structure to OHA.  Any amount of recourse 
back to OHA, including an OHA guarantee, will be considered a use of capital and, therefore, 
be subjected to the OHA’s Debt Policy. 

e) The market valuation of corporate real estate is determined by biennium appraisals conducted 
by a reputable independent appraisal firm, and that value will be utilized until the next appraisal.  
Before the first appraisal, the asset's market value is assumed to equal its acquisition cost.   

1.5 Guidelines for Transactions 

As a general guideline that should apply to all assets managed, transactions should be entered into based on best 
execution, which is interpreted normally to mean the best-realized price.  

1.6 Responsible Investing 

OHA will seek to apply the Principles for Responsible Investing in its investment practices and decisions where 
possible and encourage its investment managers to apply these principles to their investment portfolios.  
Responsible Investing involves incorporating environmental, social, and governance (ESG) factors into 
investment decisions to manage risk effectively, achieve positive societal outcomes, and generate sustainable 
long-term returns. ESG factors encompass a range of issues, including energy consumption, greenhouse gas 
emissions, climate change, resource scarcity, water use, waste management, health and safety, employee 
productivity, diversity and non-discrimination, supply chain risk management, and human rights, including 
workers' rights and effective board oversight. OHA is committed to staying informed about developments in 
responsible investing and the impact of ESG factors on the Fund. 

1.7 Derivatives Policy 

The derivatives policy applies to all investments except for those permitted in external investment funds.   

a) Investments in derivatives shall not create a leverage effect on portfolio returns and must be 
consistent with the asset class they are in.  

b) OHA staff will be required to report to the BOT periodically (at least annually) on their use of 
derivatives for any purpose to assure compliance with this Policy. 



 

21 
 

 

1.8 Cash Holdings 

Cash holding should be invested in highly liquid, safe instruments with short maturities to minimize principal 
loss. Eligible investments include: 

a) Money market mutual funds (2a7) in U.S. Treasury and government agency securities; 

b) Deposits 100% federally insured or collateralized with U.S. government or agency securities 
equal to or greater than the deposit amount;  

c) U.S. Treasury bills and short-term U.S. government agency securities; 

d) Overnight repurchase agreements collateralized with U.S. government or agency securities at 
102% of the face amount. 

1.9 Proxy Voting 

The BOT has delegated the authority to external investment managers to vote proxies. For separately managed 
accounts (not pooled vehicles), the BOT reserves its right to exercise its proxy rights when it so chooses and to 
vote the proxies of invested companies as it deems appropriate. The proxy voting review process and guidelines 
are set forth in the OHA Native Hawaiian Trust Fund Operational Procedures. 

 
  



 

22 
 

Section 8. Hawai‘i Direct Investment Policy (HDIP) 
 
The primary role of Hawaiʻi Direct Investments is to create financially viable Hawaiʻi commercial real estate and 
residential real estate holdings while also protecting and preserving Hawaiʻi lands and their cultural significance.  
OHA’s Hawaiʻi commercial and residential real estate portfolio will seek to generate a total return (Income and Capital 
Appreciation) to meet OHAʻs spending requirements while also preserving purchasing power for future generations.  
OHA will make capital investments to enhance, maintain, and protect existing improvements on its Hawaiʻi 
commercial and residential real estate holdings and consider real estate acquisitions and monetization for compelling 
and strategic reasons.   

A secondary objective targets equity and/or debt positions in private companies based in Hawai‘i as further guided by 
the OHA Economic Development Policy and BOT-approved lending programs for Native Hawaiians.   

All direct investments should demonstrate the ability to generate current income and capital gains consistent with the 
asset class benchmark index and the Fund’s long-term objective.  

8.1 Delegation of Authority 

The BOT must approve all final acquisition, development, and/or disposition decisions of Hawai‘i direct 
investments.  A supermajority vote of the BOT must approve investments other than corporate real estate and 
BOT-approved lending programs. The BOT delegates to the CEO the authority to: 

a) Administer the HDIP and approve and implement procedures to carry it out. 

b) Delegate duties to OHA staff as necessary to fulfill and implement this policy. 

c) Deny opportunities that do not satisfy the current policy, guidelines, and/or criteria approved 
by the BOT. 

d) Execute contracts and agreements. 

e) Conduct investment due diligence, negotiations, and ongoing performance monitoring. 

f) Structure real estate financing terms for approval by the BOT. 

g) Oversee and manage the operational functions associated with each investment, including 
selecting and terminating service providers, negotiating leases and setting fee schedules 
(including market-based lease terms for OHA occupied space), obtaining and approving 
permits, licensing, and leasing, approving tenant improvements, sub-leases, evictions, use and 
service agreements, and making all other operational decisions associated with the investment. 

h) Determine when to segregate assets to fund acquisitions and to place those assets with OHA 
staff to invest until acquisitions are closed.  

i) The BOT reserves the right to approve all other decisions not listed above. 

8.2 Permissible Investments  

Hawaiʻi Real Estate 

a) Hawaiʻi commercial and residential real estate that OHA directly owns with a focus on total 
return to meet current and future spending requirements. 

b) The objective for Hawaiʻi commercial and residential real estate strategies is to outperform, net 



 

23 
 

of commissions and fees, a blend of real estate indices that reflect the Fund's holdings. 
Performance will be monitored regularly and evaluated over rolling five- and ten-year periods. 

c) Only real property that is Hawaiʻi commercial and residential real estate property are included 
in the Fund.   

d) OHA may finance real estate acquisition or capital improvements with a mortgage. The 
property may be pledged as collateral under a non-recourse structure to OHA.  Any amount of 
recourse back to OHA, including an OHA guarantee, will be considered a use of capital and, 
therefore, be subjected to the OHA’s Debt Management Policy. 

e) The market valuation of Hawai‘i commercial and residential real estate is determined by 
biennium appraisals conducted by a reputable independent appraisal firm. That value will be 
utilized until the next appraisal.  Before the first appraisal, the asset's market value is assumed 
to equal its acquisition cost.  



 

24 
 

Section 9. Monitoring of Objectives and Results  

9.1 Monitoring of Objectives and Results  

a) All objectives and policies are in effect until modified. The Resource Management Committee, 
with advice from the CEO, will review these periodically for their continued appropriateness. 
Changes to the asset allocation targets and ranges are anticipated to be made infrequently. 

b) The Fund portfolio will be monitored continually for consistency in investment philosophy, 
return relative to objectives, investment risk as measured by asset concentrations, exposure to 
extreme economic conditions, and market volatility.   

c) Internal staff will review individual managers as needed to confirm that performance 
expectations remain in place and make recommendations as needed. 
 

d) The performance and portfolio activity will be reviewed at least annually by the Board of 
Trustees and with the Resource Committee every quarter.  Results will be evaluated over longer 
time frames, including the inception period, rolling five- and ten-year periods, and complete 
market cycles.



 

25 
 

Section 10. Selecting and Reviewing Investment Managers  

10.1 Review Process for Selecting External Investment Managers 

Under HRS §103D-102(b)(2)(F), investment manager selections are exempt from the State procurement process. 
The selection process for investment includes, but not be limited to, the following steps: 

a) OHA staff and/or the Consultant will review potential candidates and provide a shortlist of top 
managers identified through a formal screening process. 

b) The initial list will consist of eight to ten managers, but maybe fewer, depending on the 
investment approach. 

c) OHA staff and/or the Consultant will gather performance and risk statistics and a summary 
description of each manager. 

d) OHA staff and/or Consultant will evaluate the investment managers and narrow the list to three 
candidates. 

e) Each finalist will be asked to provide detailed information, including performance records for 
three, five, and ten years (where available), associated risks, quality and stability of investment 
personnel, adherence to investment philosophy/style, and fee structures.  

f) OHA staff and/or Consultant will summarize the responses and select at least two finalists to 
present to the Resource Management Committee. 

g) The Resource Management Committee will make the final selection for approval.  

h) Following approval, the OHA administration will be authorized to execute the agreement and 
allocate funds.  

i) The timing of funds to the manager will be based on the asset allocation, availability of funds, 
and structure of the investment. 

j) Private Investments follow a similar process. However, the CEO will have the delegated 
authority to approve private equity investments in accordance with the annual BOT private 
investment plan. 

10.2 Selection Criteria 

In general, eligible investment managers will possess attributes including, but not limited to, the following: 

a) For specific asset class searches, the firm must have experience managing funds for institutional 
clients within the specified asset class, product category, and investment style. 

b) The firm must have a minimum three-year history of managing institutional assets and 
demonstrate the continuity of key personnel; shorter-term histories will be considered for entire 
portfolio management teams that have portable track records from predecessor firms. 

c) The firm must display a record of stability in retaining and attracting qualified investment 
professionals and managing asset growth effectively to gain and retain clients. 

d) The firm must have an asset base sufficient to accommodate the Fund's portfolio: The manager 
should have at least $500 million of discretionary institutional assets under management; the 



 

26 
 

Fund's portfolio should represent no more than 5% of the firm's total asset base for any manager. 

e) The firm must demonstrate adherence to the investment style and adherence to the firm's stated 
investment discipline. 

f) The firm should promote good governance in its proxy voting policy and adhere to best practice 
standards regarding transparency, manager fee structure, leverage, and liquidity in the 
alternative asset classes. 

g) The firm’s fees should be competitive with industry standards for each product category and 
overall. 

h) The firm must comply with the "Duties of the Investment Advisors" outlined in this Statement 
and should conform to GIPS (Global Investment Performance Standards) for performance 
reporting. 

i) The firm must be able to provide analytics tools and/or reports necessary for OHA staff and the 
Consultant to monitor and analyze risk and manager performance. 

10.3 Private Placement Policy 

The OHA requires specific and timely disclosure of payments and compensation made to Placement Agents 
regarding its investments. This policy ensures transparency and prevents undue influence or illegal practices in 
investment decisions in accordance with the Board of Trustees' fiduciary responsibilities.   This Placement Agent 
Policy is intended to apply broadly to all investment contracts made by the OHA.  

Purpose: 

• Transparency: To ensure OHA investment decisions are based solely on the merits of the opportunity. 

• Avoid conflicts: To prevent undue influence or illegal "pay-to-play" practices in awarding contracts. 

Each investment manager shall provide to the OHA the required information listed below.  

Disclosure Requirements for Investment Managers: 

Investment managers must disclose the following information before closing on an investment opportunity and 
notify OHA of any changes: 

a) Required Disclosure of Payments Made to Placement Agents  

1. A written statement of whether the investment manager or any of its principals, employees, 
agents, or affiliates has compensated or agreed to compensate any person or entity to act 
as a Placement Agent in connection with the OHA’s investments.  

2. The name of the Placement Agent and resumes of the relevant Placement Agent(s) involved 
with OHA’s investment.  

3. Description of all compensation paid or agreed to be paid to the Placement Agent, including 
payment to employees of the investment manager who are retained to solicit, or who are 
paid based in whole or in part upon, an investment from the OHA.  

4. Description of the services rendered or the services expected to be performed by the 
Placement Agent.  



 

27 
 

5. Name of the regulatory agencies the Placement Agent or any of its affiliates are registered 
with, such as The Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), the Financial Industry 
Regulatory Association (FINRA), or any similar regulatory agency; proof and details of 
such registration shall be included, or an explanation as to why no registration is required. 

b) Required Disclosure of Relationships to the Board and Campaign Contributions  

1. To the best of their knowledge, full disclosure of any connection between the Placement 
Agent or the investment manager and the OHA, including whether anyone receiving 
compensation or who will receive compensation with respect to an investment from the 
OHA from the Placement Agent or the fund manager is: a current or former OHA Board 
Member, OHA employee, or OHA consultant; a member of the immediate family of 
anyone connected to or formerly connected to the OHA. 

2. To the best of their knowledge, full disclosure of the donations made by the Placement 
Agent or the investment manager during the prior 24-month period to any organization 
(including contributions to political campaign funds and donations to non-profits) in which 
any person listed in Paragraph 2.a is an officer, employee, or member of the Board or 
Advisory Board (or similar body). Additionally, any subsequent donations made by the 
Placement Agent or the investment manager to any such organization during the time the 
Placement Agent or the investment manager is receiving compensation in connection with 
the OHA investment shall also be disclosed.  

3. To the best of their knowledge, full disclosure of the names of any current or former 
members of the Board, OHA employees, or investment consultants who suggested the 
retention of the Placement Agent to the investment manager.  

c) Responsibilities of Staff and Consultants  

At the time that investment discussions between an investment manager and the OHA for a 
prospective investment commence, the Investment Staff is responsible for providing investment 
managers and Placement Agents with a copy of this Placement Agent Policy.  

Investment Staff and investment consultants must confirm that the applicable Placement Agent 
disclosures have been received prior to the completion of due diligence and completion of any 
recommendation to proceed with the decision to invest with the investment manager. For new 
contracts and amendments to existing contracts, the OHA will: 

1. Stop investment negotiations with an investment manager who refuses to disclose the 
required information;  

2. Decline the opportunity to retain or invest with an investment manager who has used or 
intends to use a Placement Agent who is not registered with the SEC, FINRA, or any 
similar regulatory agency and cannot provide an explanation as to why no registration is 
required; and 

3. Investment Staff and investment consultants will assist legal counsel as necessary to secure 
in the final contract terms and side letter agreements between the OHA and the investment 
manager, including but not limited to, the following:  

4. The investment manager’s agreement that it has complied with and will continue to comply 
with this Placement Agent Policy.  

5. The investment manager’s representation and warranty that it will notify the Investment 
Staff of any changes to any of the information required above.  



 

28 
 

At any meeting where an investment decision with an investment manager will be considered, 
Investment Staff and the applicable investment consultants must notify the Board of the name(s) of 
any Placement Agent(s) used by the investment manager in connection with the proposed 
investment, and any campaign contributions or gifts reported by each Placement Agent.  

Staff must maintain records of all information disclosed to the OHA in accordance with this policy 
and provide the Board with notice of any violation of this policy as soon as practicable. 

d) Responsibilities of Counsel  

Legal counsel to the OHA must secure in the final contract terms and side letter agreements between 
the OHA and the investment manager all requisite agreements and representations and warranties 
by the investment manager for compliance in accordance with this Placement Agent Policy. 

e) Responsibilities of the Board  

The Board must review all violations of this Placement Agent Policy reported by Investment Staff, 
consider whether each violation is material, and consider recommendations from Investment Staff 
and the Chief Executive Officer on whether to prohibit that investment manager and/or Placement 
Agent2 from soliciting new investments from the OHA for a certain period from the date of the 
determination. 

10.4 Watch List Policy 

a)  A manager may be added to the Watch List for any of the following reasons: 

1.    Organizational Issues (People) 

• Change in ownership or control of the firm 

• Significant change in team composition or responsibilities 

• Material change in the business organization of the manager 

• Departure of significant personnel 

• Material changes in the responsible initiatives as specified in the Board’s Investment 
Committee Charter 

2. Relative Performance Measurement for Active Managers (Returns) 

• 3, and 5-year performance net of fees below the relevant benchmark 

• 3, and 5-year performance net of fees in the bottom quartile of relevant peer universe 

3.  Relative Performance Measurement for Passive Managers 

 
2 “Placement Agent” includes any person or entity hired, engaged, retained by, acting on behalf of or serving for the benefit of an investment 
manager or on behalf of another Placement Agent as a third-party marketer, finder, solicitor, marketer, consultant, broker, or other intermediary to 
market, solicit, obtain access to the OHA, and/or raise money or investments either directly or indirectly from the OHA. Notwithstanding the 
foregoing, an individual who is an employee, officer, director, equity holder, partner, member, or trustee of an investment manager and who 
spends one-third or more of his or her time, during a calendar year, managing the securities or assets owned, controlled, invested or held by the 
investment manager is not a Placement Agent. 



 

29 
 

• 5-year performance net of fees below the relevant benchmark 

• Tracking error tolerance 

• US Equity +/- 10 basis points 

• Non-US Equity +/- 40 basis points 

• Fixed Income +/- 20 basis points 

• Global REITS +/- 40 basis points 

4. Other 

• Material guideline violation not brought to the attention of the OHA Investment Staff 
or Investment Consultant (OCIO) by the manager 

• Failure to comply with terms of contract/guideline that is not corrected within 60 days 

• Any material regulatory action or other proceeding affecting the manager’s ability to 
perform its duties under the contract 

• Manager changes strategy it was hired to implement 

• Material violation of the manager’s investment guidelines 

• Unsatisfactory client service 

• Any other reason as determined by OHA Investment Staff or Investment Consultant 
(OCIO) 

b) When a manager is placed on the Watch List it is effective immediately. While there is no 
requirement that the manager be notified when they are placed on the Watch List, OHA 
Investment Staff or Investment Consultant (OCIO) will communicate their concerns to the 
manager as part of its ongoing due diligence activities. 

c) During a manager’s tenure on the Watch List, the OHA Investment Staff and Investment 
Consultant (OCIO) will monitor the manager on a regular basis and provide the Resource 
Management Committee with information about the progress the manager is making, as needed. 

d) There is no minimum time requirement on the Watch List before termination may be made, and 
a manager’s contract may be terminated for any reason at any time, whether on the Watch List 
or not. If there is a recommendation for termination, a prudent plan for transitioning the assets 
earmarked for termination will be a part of the recommendation. 

e) A manager should be removed from the Watch List if the Investment Consultant (OCIO), with 
the assistance of OHA Investment Staff, has completed a review of the manager and determined 
that there are appropriate mitigating circumstances to warrant the retention of the manager. 
Changes to the Watch List will be brought to the Resource Management Committee’s attention 
as needed when an issue rises to a level that warrants notification. 

f) Once an investment manager is placed on probation for performance reasons, it is allowed but 
not guaranteed 3–4 calendar quarters to show improvement relative to the prescribed 



 

30 
 

benchmarks and required to submit monthly reports detailing investment performance and 
strategy. 

g) The investment manager will be notified in writing at the completion of the review period of its 
status, including if there is a recommendation made to the Resources Management Committee 
for termination, continuation, or return to normal status 

h) OHA reserves the right to terminate the manager at any time, with or without cause in 
accordance with relevant laws and contractual provisions governing OHA’s relationship with 
an investment manager. 

10.5 Criteria for Termination  

Grounds for termination may include, but are not limited to: 
 

a) Failure to comply with the guidelines agreed upon for the management of the Fund's assets, 
including holding restricted securities and conducting prohibited transactions.  

b) Failure to achieve performance objectives specified in this Statement or the Advisor's 
contractual guidelines 

c) Significant deviation from the Advisor's stated investment philosophy/style and/or process 

d) Loss of key personnel or significant ownership changes that create instability in the organization  

e) Evidence of illegal or unethical behavior 

f) Lack of willingness to cooperate with reasonable requests for information, meetings, or other 
materials 

g) Loss of confidence in the manager 

h) The presence of one or a combination of these factors will be carefully reviewed but will not 
necessarily result in automatic termination. 

10.6 Termination 

If an investment manager fails to meet the required standards, OHA staff and/or the investment consultant will 
put the manager on a watch list and report the recommended course of action to the Resource Management 
Committee.  If the manager fails to address OHA’s concerns, staff will recommend termination to the BOT in 
accordance with the contractual agreement. The BOT reserves the right to terminate an Investment Manager at 
any time with reasonable notice as defined in the contract. 

  



 

31 
 

 

Section 11. Investment Risk Management Policy  

The Risk Management Policy is designed to ensure that there are risk control measures in place to identify, monitor, 
and manage the level of risks and to balance the long-term expected risk and return objectives of the Fund investment 
portfolio. The OHA Board of Trustees (“BOT”) recognizes that the undertaking of risks is generally unavoidable in 
investment management. The purpose of this policy is not to eliminate risks but to understand the risks through the 
implementation of disciplined processes and procedures. Risk control measures include continuous monitoring and 
timely reporting by OHA staff to ensure the effectiveness of OHA’s investment risk management system. This Policy 
is not intended to provide an exhaustive list of risks or provide a comprehensive list of processes and procedures to 
identify and mitigate risks. Rather, this policy provides generally accepted approaches to risk management that can be 
implemented through investment guidelines and operational policies and procedures. 

1.1 Risk Management Policy 

Risk is managed primarily through diversification.  The Fund will be diversified both by asset class (e.g., 
developed and emerging markets equities, real assets, opportunistic investments, absolute return, bonds, and cash 
equivalents) and within asset classes (e.g., within equities by country, economic sector, industry, quality, and 
size).  The purpose of diversification is to provide reasonable assurance that no single security or class of securities 
will have a disproportionate impact on the Fund. 

1.2 Key Risk Factors 

Key risk factors may stem from internal or external sources. The assessment of risk may be both qualitative and 
quantitative. The OHA staff and consultant shall conduct an annual qualitative risk assessment identifying key 
risk factors, sources of risk, risk mitigants, and a remediation plan, if necessary, to manage these risks. OHA staff 
shall also provide quarterly quantitative risk reporting to the BOT using commonly accepted quantitative risk 
reporting measures. Risk management measures may include the following: 

a) Establish internal policies and procedures to minimize operational and legal risks 

b) Establish investment guidelines for eligible investments, diversification, rebalancing, liquidity, 
leverage, and use of derivatives 

c) Annual reporting of the portfolio volatility (measured using the standard deviation of returns) 
and expected volatility and return 

d) Annual reporting of tracking error for OHA’s liquid assets 

e) Annual reporting of leverage, currency risk, concentration risk, and liquidity risk 

f) Annual external financial audit by a reputable independent audit firm 

g) Periodic review of the Investment Policy Statement and Risk Management Policy to assess the 
relevance and effectiveness of these policies 

1.3 Guidelines 

The Fund will be monitored quarterly to ensure adherence to the following risk guidelines.  A breach in a guideline 
triggers a written notification from the internal staff to the CEO.  It is recognized that market conditions and/or 
illiquidity of the underlying securities may preclude an immediate rebalancing of the portfolio.  Risk control 
exception reporting will be provided to the BOT as part of its quarterly investment performance report, which 
specifies the actions, if any, needed to bring the Fund into compliance. 



 

32 
 

a) Concentration – Maximum Portfolio Weights:   

1. 10% in a single marketable manager (excluding Fund-of-Funds, Passive Strategies, and 
Fixed Income) 

2. 5% in a single Alternatives (e.g. Private Equity and Hedge Fund) manager excluding Fund-
of-Funds 

b) Liquidity: 

1. Quarterly: 25% of the Financial Assets convertible to cash  

2. Annually: 40% of the Financial Assets convertible to cash  

3. Unfunded capital commitments plus current exposure to private investments limited to one-
half (50%) of the Financial Assets 

1.4 Implementation 

It is the responsibility of OHA’s Chief Executive Officer to ensure that risk management policies and procedures 
are in place to identify, monitor, and manage investment risk. It is the OHA staff’s responsibility to implement 
internal procedures and continuously monitor the investment portfolio and investment managers to ensure policy 
and guideline compliance. OHA staff shall rely on the most recent data available from the custodian and 
investment managers to analyze risk statistics and provide risk reporting. A risk management review shall be 
provided to the BOT on an annual basis or more frequently as needed. 

 
Adopted 5/29/03 (ARM 03-05); amended 10/24/08 (ARM 08-04); amended 8/3/09 (ARM 09-07); amended 4/15/10 
(ARM 10-02); amended 9/27/12 (ARM 12-08); amended 6/19/14 (ARM 14-03); amended 8/24/17 (RM 17-08); 
amended 9/19/19 (RM 19-13); amended 08/12/21 (RM 21-10). 

 

 


	1 ILM Board Packet Page 1
	2 ILM MINUTES 2025 0122 DRAFT V2
	STATE OF HAWAI‘I
	VOTE:  [    ] UNANIMOUS   [ X   ] PASSED   [    ] DEFERRED    [    ] FAILED
	VOTE:  [    ] UNANIMOUS   [ X   ] PASSED   [    ] DEFERRED    [    ] FAILED
	VOTE:  [    ] UNANIMOUS   [ X   ] PASSED   [    ] DEFERRED    [    ] FAILED
	VOTE:  [  X  ] UNANIMOUS   [   ] PASSED   [    ] DEFERRED    [    ] FAILED
	Motion passes unanimous.
	VOTE:  [    ] UNANIMOUS   [  X ] PASSED   [    ] DEFERRED    [    ] FAILED
	VOTE:  [    ] UNANIMOUS   [  X ] PASSED   [    ] DEFERRED    [    ] FAILED
	Motion passes 8 yes.
	VOTE:  [    ] UNANIMOUS   [  X  ] PASSED   [    ] DEFERRED    [    ] FAILED

	3 ILM Board Packet Page 2
	4 ILM MINUTES 2025 0205 DRAFT
	STATE OF HAWAI‘I
	VOTE:  [ X   ] UNANIMOUS   [    ] PASSED   [    ] DEFERRED    [    ] FAILED

	5 ILM Board Packet Page 3
	6 2502 Informational Briefing on OHA Legacy Land Holdings
	Slide 1: Informational Briefing on OHA Legacy Landholdings: Pahua Heiau & Waialua Courthouse  Committee on Investment & Land Management February 19, 2025
	Slide 2: Pahua Heiau
	Slide 3: Waialua Courthouse

	7 ILM Board Packet Page 4
	8 OHA_ILM_EducationSessionPresentation_20250219
	Slide Number 1
	AGENDA
	NHTF Overall Portfolio Structure
	NHTF Investment Policy Statement
	2025 Investment Trends/Opportunities Based on NHTF Allocations
	2025 Education Trustee Opportunities (partial)
	APPENDIX
	Slide Number 8
	Slide Number 9
	Slide Number 10
	Slide Number 11
	Slide Number 12
	Slide Number 13
	Slide Number 14
	Slide Number 15
	Slide Number 16
	Slide Number 17
	Slide Number 18
	Slide Number 19
	Slide Number 20
	Slide Number 21
	Slide Number 22
	Slide Number 23

	9 OHA_NHTF_InvestmentPolicyStatement_20241121
	Section 1. Introduction and Purpose
	Section 2. General Beliefs and Objectives
	Section 3. Investment Philosophy and Structure
	Section 4. Standards of Care
	Section 5. Delegation of Authority
	Section 6. Asset Allocation Guidelines
	Section 7. Investment Guidelines
	Section 8. Hawai‘i Direct Investment Policy (HDIP)
	Section 9. Monitoring of Objectives and Results
	Section 10. Selecting and Reviewing Investment Managers
	Section 11. Investment Risk Management Policy




